# 2014

# Evaluating Connecticut's Health Information Technology Exchange Consumer Survey Report



### **Prepared** for

**Connecticut Department** of Public Health

Prepared By Minakshi Tikoo, PhD, MBI Darcé Costello, EdD, MPH, MBA

### About the Authors

Minakshi Tikoo, PhD MBI, is a health service researcher, a biomedical informatician, and the Director of Evaluation in Biomedical Informatics Center at the Connecticut Institute for Clinical and Translational Science, University of Connecticut Health Center. Darcé Costello, EdD, MPH, MBA is a Clinical Research Associate II at the University of Connecticut Health Center.

### Acknowledgements

The authors would like to acknowledge and thank all Connecticut residents who took time out to share their thoughts and opinions with us. We would also like to acknowledge Carl L. Zimmerman, PhD Senior GIS Analyst at Tufts University who prepared the map for this report.

### About the Funding

This work was supported by Award Number 90HT0043/01 from the Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology.

#### **Suggested Citation**

Tikoo M, Costello D. *Evaluating Connecticut's Health Information Technology Exchange: Consumer Survey Report.* Farmington, CT: University of Connecticut Health Center; 2014.

### Contents

Executive Summary	iv
Introduction	1
Background	1
Consumers' use of technology	1
Computer and Internet use	1
Using the Internet to search for, track, or store health information	2
Summary	3
Consumers' knowledge and attitudes regarding HIT and HIE	3
Personal health records or patient portals	3
Physicians' electronic medical record systems	4
Electronically sharing health information	4
Consent model for sharing health information	5
HIT and HIE benefits and barriers	6
Summary	7
Methodology	8
Study design	8
Survey instrument	8
Survey administration	8
Analytic sample	9
Analytic approach	9
Results	10
Sample characteristics	10
Current health, health care use and satisfaction with care	11
Health literacy	12
Sources of health or medical information	14
Experiences with information technology	14
Familiarity with HIE and HIT	15
Attitudes toward health information exchange	16
Perceived benefits of health information technology and interest in sharing health	
information electronically	17
Location of consumers by Town	20
Discussion	22
Summary of descriptive results	22
Consumer characteristics associated with attitudes toward HIT and HIE	24
Limitations	25
Conclusion	25
Endnotes	27
Appendix A	32
Survey Instrument	32
Appendix B	44
Procurement of consumer calling lists	44
Consumer calling protocol	44
Disposition of consumer phone numbers	46
Data cleaning	46
Appendix C	47
Logistic regression analyses	47

### **List of Tables**

### List of Figures

Figure 1. Consumer	r survey phone nu	umber list disposition	 9
0			

### **Executive Summary**

In 2010, the Connecticut Department of Public Health (DPH) entered into a Cooperative Agreement with the Office of National Coordinator for Health Information Technology (ONC), to create and implement a State Health Information Exchange (HIE). DPH received an award of \$7.3 million to initiate and sustain HIE activities in the state of Connecticut.<sup>1,2</sup> The Health Information Technology Exchange of Connecticut (HITE-CT), a quasi-public agency, was created by <u>Public Act 10-117</u>, "*An Act Concerning Revisions to Public Health Related Statutes and the Establishment of the Health Information Technology Exchange of Connecticut*," Sec. 82-90,96 (codified at CGS §19a-750(c)(1)), by the 2010 Connecticut General Assembly and Governor Rell. HITE-CT received \$4.3 million over the course of three years to create and implement an HIE infrastructure and facilitate exchange activities in the state. Additionally, DPH contracted with the University of Connecticut Health Center (UCHC) to evaluate the ongoing development and implementation of Connecticut's Health Information Exchange (CT-HIE).

This report summarizes the 629 responses received between 8/10/2011-12/20/2013 in response to a telephone survey of Connecticut residents' perspectives on HIT and HIE as a way to assess their awareness of and readiness for these technologies, to learn how best to engage consumers in the state's efforts to develop an HIE, and to develop strategies to support consumers' HIT adoption.

Even though we do not have an operational statewide Health Information Exchange in the state of Connecticut (CT-HIE) as of March 14, 2014, this report provides some insights into how consumers might use EMRs, PHRs, and HIE should they become universally available. The estimates of Connecticut consumers' perspectives on HIT and HIE that we describe in this study offer meaningful information to state policy makers and stakeholders as they engage in strategic planning for these technologies, and will help to ensure that the HITECH Act's overarching goal of facilitating the availability of health information in support of a connected and seamless health care delivery system with improved treatment outcomes is achieved.

### **Key Findings**

#### Descriptive Characteristics of Connecticut Residents (N=629)

- Nearly two-thirds (64%) of participants were female.
- Ages ranged from 18 to 92 and the median age was 59.
- Nearly a third (31%) of the sample was 65 or older.
- Most participants (79%) were white.
- More than half (57%) had a college degree or higher.
- The median household income was \$80,000; 20% reported a household income of \$100,000 or higher.

#### Current Health, Health Care, and Satisfaction with Care

- 54% of participants described their health as excellent or very good.
- 34% of participants said they had a chronic health condition.
- 24% of the participant reported 1-2 visits, 25% reported 3-4 and 36% reported more than 4 visits to a doctor or physician's assistant in the last 12 months.

- 89% of participants were satisfied with the care they received from their doctor or physician's assistant.
- 49% of participants reported that their physician's office had implemented an electronic medical record system and a third said they were not sure.

#### Health Literacy and Sources of Health or Medical Information

- 63% of participants said they read the printed health-related information they received from their physician and most participants said the material was not difficult to understand (61%) and did not contain words they were unfamiliar with (56%). However, when words in the printed materials were unfamiliar, fewer than half (42%) asked for an explanation.
- 87% of participants said they understood what their doctor said to them during their last visit and most (80%) participants who did not understand something their doctor said to them reported receiving an explanation.
- 79% of participants reported having ever looked for information on health or medical topics. The most common source of information was the Internet (87%) followed by a physician (15%).
- 48% had used the Internet to find health-related information in the past month.

#### Awareness of HIE and HIT

- 83% of participants had heard about electronic medical records.
- 65% of participants had heard about the electronic health information exchange.
- 50% of participants had heard of personal health records.
- 83% had never heard of the Connecticut Health Information Exchange.
- Demographic (education, gender) and individual characteristics (online experience, having a chronic health condition or a doctor with an EMR) were associated with increased awareness of HIE and HIT.

#### Attitudes toward HIE

- 72% supported a national HIE that was driven by patient consent.
- 57% reported that concern about privacy was the single most important barrier that was likely to get in the way of a national HIE.
- 64% expressed support for an "opt-in" and 21% supported "opt-out" consent model.

#### **Perceived Benefits of HIT**

- Most participants thought HIT adoption offered benefits in terms of:
  - better quality of care (73%),
  - better doctor-patient interaction (68%),
  - fewer medical errors (65%), and
  - reduction in duplicate tests and procedures (71%).
- 53% of participants reported an interest in having an electronic personal health record where they could manage their health information on a secure website.
- 57% of participants reported an interest in allowing their de-identified health information from their doctor's EMRs to be shared with outside entities such as health insurance plans, researchers, and other companies.

- 47% of participants cited privacy concerns as the reason for their lack of interest in having access to an electronic personal health record and 74% cited privacy concerns as the reason for their lack of interest in allowing access to their de-identified health information.
- Participant trust in the organization in charge of collecting and maintaining their information (38%) and feeling that the organization had policies to safeguard their privacy (35%) were mentioned most frequently as factors that might persuade people to sign up for a PHR.
- 87% reported they would not intentionally withhold information from their doctor. However, if consumers thought their de-identified health information might be shared via their doctor's EMR, the proportion of consumers who said they were unsure if they would intentionally withhold information shifted from 3% to 9%, primarily due to privacy concerns.

#### **Geographic Representation of Participants**

All counties and a total of 109 towns were represented.



### Introduction

#### Background

Substantial investments in developing and promoting health information technologies (HITs) such as physicians' electronic medical records (EMRs) and consumers' personal health records (PHRs) are being

consumers' personal health records (PHRs) are being made by the U.S. government and health care industry with the expectation that HIT will improve the quality of health care and reduce medical costs.<sup>1-3</sup> A vital component of this strategy involves the electronic exchange of patients' health care information across health care providers and institutions.<sup>4</sup> Health information exchange (HIE) has the potential to benefit health care providers<sup>5</sup>, public health departments<sup>6</sup>, and consumers<sup>7</sup> by offering electronic access to clinical data collected and maintained in a variety of settings. Such access may improve the efficiency and quality of health care delivery<sup>5</sup>, reduce medical costs<sup>3</sup> and empower patients to take a more active role in monitoring and managing their health.<sup>7,8</sup>

In order for these expected gains to be realized, however, consumers need to be willing and able to participate in the system (a) by allowing their health care information to be collected and shared electronically<sup>9</sup> and (b) by possessing the necessary technical skills and technology access to facilitate their use of HIT. *Consumer engagement* has been described as the "linchpin" of efforts to use HIT and HIE to address "the quality, safety, and efficiency problems that plague U.S. health care delivery."<sup>10</sup> A necessary first step to engaging consumers involves assessing their perspectives, knowledge, attitudes, interest in and reservations about technology in general, and HIT and HIE in particular. Understanding consumers' perspectives will help HIT and HIE supporters to identify areas for outreach and education and to highlight potential barriers to participation that should be considered when designing these systems. A 2008 report sponsored by the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation noted that, "[g]iven that the policy climate is demanding acceleration in EMR and PHR adoption and their potential impact on the delivery of health services, it is prudent to begin taking consistent and serious measure of what the public knows and does not know about these technologies."<sup>11</sup>

In the next section, we review recent literature on consumers' access to technology and the ways consumers use technology and the Internet. When available, we report national estimates for the general population of U.S. adults. When national data are not available, we turn to evidence from studies drawing on non-representative samples.

#### Consumers' use of technology

#### Computer and Internet use

Consumers' access to and comfort with using technology may promote or impede their ability to use electronic health information and influence their perceptions of the importance or benefits of health information exchange. Although a national telephone survey conducted by the Pew Research Center estimated that Internet use among U.S. adults increased from 14% to 85% between 1995 and 2013, 15% of adults still do not use the Internet.<sup>12</sup> Over a third of adults who reported no Internet use said the main reason was because the Internet was not relevant to

Internet use among U.S. adults increased from 14% to 85% between 1995 and 2013.

them (i.e., "just not interested," "don't need/don't want it," "too busy," "think it is a waste of time").<sup>12</sup> A starting point for engaging this group of consumers may involve learning more about how they might appreciate the utility of HIT and HIE to their personal health and wellbeing.

Previous research has suggested that, on average, computer use and online access are more common

There appear to be no differences

between whites, blacks, or Latinos in Internet use via mobile devices.

among adults who are younger, more educated, more affluent, and white.<sup>13-18</sup> It is worth noting, however, that when it comes to mobile Internet use (e.g., via mobile phones, laptops, or tablet devices) there appear to be no differences between whites, blacks, or Latinos. <sup>19,20</sup> Moreover, compared with white Americans, black and Latino Americans are more likely to access the Internet primarily via their mobile phones. <sup>20</sup> These results suggest that consumer engagement efforts must target multiple platforms (i.e., mobile and desktop) in order to include the broadest population.

There is also some evidence of variation in online access within subgroups. For example, although some surveys found that Latinos tended to report less access to the Internet than black or white Americans, <sup>21</sup> Latinos who were less fluent in English, immigrants, older, had lower incomes and less education were not as likely to report Internet use when compared with Latinos who were more fluent in English, born in the U.S., younger, had higher incomes and higher levels of education.<sup>21-23</sup> Apart from the associations between Internet use and age, income, and education that also characterize the overall U.S. population, these findings highlight the need to consider variations in consumers' English proficiency and literacy skills when designing HIT and HIE systems.<sup>24</sup>

#### Using the Internet to search for, track, or store health information

In addition to assessing general use of computers and the Internet, some studies have specifically asked participants if they used the Internet to search for, track, or store health information. National estimates suggest that between a third<sup>25</sup> to more than half<sup>14,26</sup> of U.S. adults turn to the Internet to find health information. Similar to the demographic characteristics associated with general use of computers and the Internet, online health information seekers tend to be female,<sup>26-28</sup> younger,<sup>26,28</sup> white,<sup>26</sup> more educated and more affluent.<sup>26-28</sup>

Although online health seeking may be gaining in popularity, managing personal health information electronically is still not commonplace. Recent national estimates for PHR use range from 2-20%, depending on when the survey was conducted and how electronic health information was defined by the researchers. A 2007 Kaiser Permanente survey reported that 12% of adults had used a health insurance company's website to review personal medical

information.<sup>29</sup> A similar estimate (14%) was obtained from the 2007 Health Information National Trend Survey (HINTS) administered by the National Cancer Institute.<sup>30</sup> Surveys commissioned by the Markle Foundation reported PHR use increased from 2% in 2003 to 3% in 2008 to 10% in 2010.<sup>31-33</sup> Gaylin and colleagues reported that 20% of U.S. adults in their 2009 survey said they had a PHR.<sup>34</sup> Seven percent of consumers said they had used a PHR to view,



store, or change their health information in a survey conducted between 12/18/09 through 1/15/10 by the California Health Foundation.<sup>1</sup> A Harris Poll fielded between 6/8/10 through 6/10/10 reported 7% of U.S. adults accessed their physician's EMR online and 8% had access to one, but didn't use it.<sup>35</sup> Almost 1 in 5 adults (19%) who used the Internet had gone online to track or store personal health information in the previous year, according to the 2011 HINTS.<sup>36</sup>

Once again, demographic characteristics appear to differentiate consumers who used the Internet for these purposes. The 2008 Markle Foundation survey identified associations between having a PHR and being less healthy (e.g., frequent doctor visits, poor self-rated health, being disabled, or having a chronic health condition), being 33-40 years old, Hispanic, an Internet user, and earning an annual income over \$100,000.<sup>31</sup> Results from the 2007 HINTS suggested consumers who were male, Hispanic, more educated, and had a regular health care provider were more likely to use the Internet to track personal health information.<sup>30</sup>A regional study found that, among patients whose physicians offered access to a PHR, blacks and Latinos, and patients with lower incomes were less likely to activate a PHR account.<sup>17</sup>

#### Summary

Although most Americans have access to the Internet through some form of technology (i.e., desktop or mobile devices) and many go online in search of health-related information, electronic use of PHRs or patient portals to EMRs is less prevalent.

In addition, when it comes to using the Internet for general or health-related purposes, there are clear differences in patterns of use associated with consumers' demographic characteristics. The "digital divide" in electronic access to and use of online health information has the potential to create new forms of health disparities or to worsen existing ones, as there is "growing empirical evidence linking increased access to health information via the Internet to overall improved health knowledge, better lifestyle choices, better compliance with physician recommendations and improved patient-provider communication during clinic visits."<sup>14</sup> Conversely, leveling the playing field in terms of technology access and use may help to reduce health care inequalities.<sup>14</sup> Engaging consumers in the use of HIT and HIE requires targeted efforts that are tailored to address the barriers to full participation that are unique to specific subgroups of consumers. Less frequent use of technology does not imply less interest, however. The next section presents results from surveys that assessed consumers' attitudes toward HIT and HIE.

#### Consumers' knowledge and attitudes regarding HIT and HIE

A number of national and regional surveys of consumers' knowledge, attitudes and preferences around HIT and HIE have been conducted during the past decade. Most studies have found consumers hold generally favorable attitudes toward HIT or HIE, although these favorable attitudes are tempered by concerns about the privacy and security of their health information.

#### Personal health records or patient portals

National estimates of consumers' awareness of or interest in PHRs have varied over time and by survey. Surveys commissioned by the Markle Foundation in 2006 and 2008 estimated that 47-65% of U.S. adults expressed interest in using a PHR.<sup>8,31</sup> A 2008 Deloitte survey reported that 46% of U.S. adults would be interested in using a web site or computer software to create a PHR.<sup>37</sup> The California Health Foundation reported in 2010 that 40% of participants in their

national survey who had *not* used a PHR to view, store, or change their health information said they would be interested in doing so.<sup>1</sup> Gaylin and colleagues' random-digit-dial survey carried out from August to November 2009 found more than half (57%) of U.S. adults were familiar with PHRs and 68% were interested in using one.<sup>34</sup> Participants in the 2007 HINTS said it would be "very important" (47%) or "somewhat important" (33%) to access their medical information electronically.<sup>30</sup>

Consumers with chronic or co-morbid health conditions<sup>33,38</sup> and frequent health care users<sup>33</sup> were more likely to be interested in using PHRs, possibly because of the perceived value PHRs hold for sharing information and coordinating care among different medical providers. Findings relating age to PHR interest have been mixed, with some evidence suggesting that younger consumers report more interest<sup>8,30</sup> while other evidence indicates middle-aged adults are more interested in using PHRs.<sup>38</sup> Similarly, evidence of gender differences has been inconsistent, with some authors reporting that females<sup>38</sup> show greater interest whereas others report males<sup>39</sup> are more likely to be interested in using PHRs. In addition, consumers who used the Internet frequently reported greater interest in PHR use.<sup>8,30,39</sup> Consumers who had a regular health care provider and were Hispanic (compared with non-Hispanic white) were more likely to say it was "very important" to be able to access health information online, according to results from the 2007 HINTS.<sup>30</sup>

#### Physicians' electronic medical record systems

Most Americans (77%) are familiar with EMRs and think they should play a role in office visits.<sup>34</sup> Although 91% of U.S. adults said consumers should have access to their physicians' EMR system<sup>40</sup> and more than three-quarters (78%) agreed that all their physicians should have access to their health information stored in an EMR, only 23%<sup>40</sup> to 28%<sup>35</sup> said their doctors had implemented such a system. An estimated 42%<sup>35</sup> to 56%<sup>1</sup> of consumers were not even sure if their physician used an EMR.

#### **Electronically sharing health information**

National estimates from 2012 indicate that many Americans rated electronic sharing of clinical information between their health care providers (64%) or having access to it themselves (70%) as "very important."<sup>41</sup> Similarly, regional surveys administered in New York state reported that 67%<sup>39</sup> to 69%<sup>42</sup> of participants favored allowing their medical information to be shared electronically among their doctors.

Participants in the 2007 HINTS who were older (45 years or older compared with adults ages 18-24), male, and who believed their health information was treated securely by their doctors were more likely to rate HIE among health care providers as important.<sup>30</sup>

Broader information sharing was assessed by Dimitropoulos and colleagues, who reported that 90% of U.S. adults would allow at least some of their health care providers to share their health information, although 71% said they would be "somewhat" or "very" likely to request a list of recipients of that information.<sup>43</sup> The 2005 and 2010 Markle Foundation surveys estimated that 72% of U.S. adults supported the creation of a nationwide HIE for physicians and patients<sup>44</sup> and more than two-thirds (68%) were willing to share de-identified health information to detect disease outbreaks, bio-terror attacks, medical fraud, or for research aimed at improving health care quality.<sup>32</sup> Consumers were less supportive when it came to sharing their health information

with commercial entities. Only 32% of participants in the 2009 California Health Foundation's survey said they would feel comfortable allowing de-identified health information from their doctors' EMRs to be shared with health insurance plans, researchers, or other companies.<sup>1</sup>

These findings imply that consumers have different preferences regarding how, with whom, and for what purpose their health information might be shared.<sup>45</sup> It is possible that consumers' attitudes toward HIE are more positive when they think sharing their health information will contribute to the public good. In contrast, consumers may be less willing to allow commercial or for-profit entities such as health insurance companies access to their health information due to concern about how that information may be used (e.g., to justify increases in health insurance premiums).

#### Consent model for sharing health information

Any framework for planning and implementing HIE must balance the clinical utility and potential benefits of data sharing against consumers' preferences to have some control over access to their health information.<sup>10</sup> National and regional surveys have shown clear support among consumers for a consent model in which consumers grant explicitly their permission to share their health information (known as the "opt-in" model),<sup>31,43,46,47</sup> and several studies report

that consumers prefer to grant access on a granular level (e.g., to specific providers or individuals) rather than across the board.  $^{31,43,46}$ 

In November 2011, the Health Information Technology Exchange of Connecticut (HITE-CT) Board of Directors voted to adopt an "opt-out" consent model for HIE<sup>48</sup> in conjunction with the development of (a) "a robust educational plan...to ensure that all stakeholders are informed," (b) "a strong framework for privacy, security and access that includes the workflow, audit trail, and access policies," and (c) "a consumer's Bill of Rights explaining what data will be in the exchange, where it will be located, and what it would be used for."<sup>49</sup> Although national and regional surveys have shown clear support among consumers for an "opt-in" consent model, in November 2011, the HIT-CT BoD voted to adopt an "opt-out" consent model.

Specifically, the policy states that "PHI may flow from all participating providers for all of the providers' patients, or for a subset of the provider patients as determined by the provider (to allow for a staged implementation) into the HITE-CT systems once notification is provided to the patient along with the option to opt out of the health information exchange."<sup>50</sup>

#### HIT and HIE benefits and barriers

As Table 1 shows, a number of surveys have queried consumers' perceptions of the benefits of PHRs, EMRs, and HIE. With the exception of a national consumer survey conducted in 2007 by Kaiser Permanente,<sup>29</sup> a plurality of U.S. adults believed that HIT and HIE offered a variety of benefits.

The first of consumers agreening that this and y conter the following sentens						
	PHR	EMR	HIE			
Improve quality/safety of care	71% <sup>34</sup> ; 61% <sup>51</sup> ;	78% <sup>34</sup> ; 66% <sup>52</sup>	79% <sup>43</sup> ; 74% <sup>40</sup> ;			
	54%33		68% <sup>42</sup> ; 19% <sup>29</sup>			
Improve doctor-patient communication	86% <sup>31</sup> ; 66% <sup>51</sup>					
Improve care coordination	86%31		89%43			
Empower patients	79% <sup>34</sup> ; 68% <sup>8</sup> ;	71%35				
	$68\%^{51}$					
Reduce errors	65% <sup>33</sup>		63% <sup>40</sup> ; 15% <sup>29</sup>			
Reduce costs	58% <sup>34</sup>	59% <sup>34</sup>	55% <sup>40</sup> ; 24% <sup>29</sup>			
Reduce redundant tests	88% <sup>8</sup> ; 86% <sup>31</sup>		81%43			

#### Table 1. Percent of consumers agreeing that HIT and HIE may confer the following benefits

A small number of surveys explored consumer characteristics that were associated with perceptions of HIT or HIE benefits. Education,<sup>42</sup> being under 40 years old,<sup>42</sup> having a doctor who used an EMR,<sup>42</sup> and greater comfort with technology<sup>34</sup> were positively associated with agreeing that EMRs or HIE would improve medical care quality.

Security and privacy concerns are the most often-mentioned barriers to consumers' acceptance of HIT and HIE. Among consumers who indicated they were not interested in using PHRs, 57% cited concerns about the privacy and confidentiality of their health information.<sup>31</sup> When asked to elaborate, consumers reported they were worried about potential misuse, such as fraud or identity theft (80%), or that advertisers (77%), employers (56%), or health insurers (53%) would gain access to their personal information.<sup>8</sup>

- Consumers who used the health care system more often (i.e., those with chronic illnesses or frequent medical visits) were less concerned about PHR privacy and security<sup>33</sup> whereas consumers who were married, female, more educated, had higher incomes, with very good self-rated health or a major disability were more likely to worry about PHR privacy and security.<sup>31</sup>
- When it comes to EMRs, the majority of consumers report being "very" (48%<sup>34</sup> to 59%<sup>43</sup>) or "somewhat" (23%<sup>43</sup>) concerned about the privacy and security of their medical records. Half of U.S. adults believed that EMRs would have a detrimental effect on the privacy and security of their medical information.<sup>42</sup>
- HIE elicits similar anxieties, with 75% of consumers indicating they were "very" (45%) or "somewhat" (30%) concerned about the security of HIE.<sup>43</sup> Nearly half (48%) of consumers believed that HIE would negatively affect the privacy and security of their medical information.<sup>42</sup> As was the case with PHR concerns, consumers worried that HIE could result in fraud or identify theft (93%), exposure of personal information (77%).<sup>43</sup>
- Consumers who were between the ages of 40 and 64, who were employed full-time, or were members of ethnic or racial minority groups were more likely to express concern about HIE privacy and security.<sup>43</sup>

Fears that their personal health information may be compromised by HIT or HIE have the potential to negatively affect the provider-patient relationship. For example, 12% of U.S. adults reported that they had withheld information from a health care provider because they were concerned about the privacy and security of their medical records.<sup>53</sup> When participants in the California Health Foundation survey were asked if they would withhold information from their doctor if he or she had an electronic medical record system that could share patients' de-identified health information with other organizations, 50% said no, 15% said yes, and 33% were not sure if they would do so.<sup>1</sup> Although the direct effect that withholding information from their from health care providers may have on an individual patient's health is clear, there is also the potential threat to the public's health and to the effectiveness of disease surveillance systems.<sup>53</sup>

Given the prevalence of consumers' concerns, it is surprising and encouraging to note that between 60% to nearly 75% of consumers believe that the benefits of HIT and HIE outweigh the risks to privacy and security.<sup>29,40,43</sup> This finding offers insight into the importance of winning consumers' confidence in HIT and HIE privacy and security protections as a first step toward gaining consumer confidence in these systems. In order for consumers to trust their personal health information to these systems, it is vital to create a forum in which their concerns regarding the collection, storage, and exchange of their electronic health information are given careful consideration and addressed in order to achieve widespread acceptance and participation.<sup>54</sup>

#### Summary

Overall, consumers have shown enthusiasm for HIT and HIE, but remain cautious about the potential privacy and security breaches that these systems may entail. Nonetheless, when consumers balance the potential benefits of HIT and HIE against the risks of unintended or inappropriate disclosure of their personal health information, they appear to favor the possibilities that HIT and HIE offer for improving health care quality and empowering consumers to assume greater control over their own health and well-being.

In order to build upon this good will, HIT and HIE systems designers must remain aware of consumers' perspectives and keep in mind that consumers are critical to the success of efforts to use technology to improve the quality and efficiency of the U.S. health care system. The "buy-in" required from multiple competing interests – including consumers – represents a significant challenge to the adoption and implementation of statewide HIEs. Unless consumers are willing and able to participate in HIT and HIE, the expected gains to the health care system may never be realized fully despite billions of dollars in government investments.

The present study surveyed Connecticut consumers' perspectives on HIT and HIE as a way to assess their awareness of and readiness for these technologies, to learn how best to engage consumers in the state's efforts to develop an HIE, and to develop strategies to support consumers' HIT adoption.

# Methodology

#### Study design

We conducted a cross-sectional survey of Connecticut residents' attitudes toward health information technology and exchange. English-speaking household members who were at least 18 years old were eligible to participate. The study was approved by the UCHC Institutional Review Board.

#### **Survey instrument**

The survey was developed by the investigators and was informed by a systematic review of previous surveys on consumers and health information technology.<sup>1,31,32,44</sup> Demographic and health status questions were drawn from items developed by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Faculty from the Department of Community Health at St. Louis University provided guidance on measuring health literacy. The survey was pilot tested by students in a graduate class on survey research methods and was reviewed by faculty with extensive experience in conducting survey research. The University of Connecticut Health Center Institutional Review Board approved the final 32-item survey. Please see Appendix A for a copy of the survey instrument.

#### **Survey administration**

A random-digit-dial telephone survey restricted to household landline numbers was conducted by the University of Connecticut Health Center research team from August 10, 2011 through December 20, 2013. Trained interviewers contacted and screened potential participants and obtained verbal consent to conduct the survey using a standard script. In households where there was more than one adult, the protocol was designed to randomly sample household members by conducting the survey with the individual with the most recent birthday relative to the survey call date. However, due to survey staff turnover in 2012, this part of the protocol was not followed consistently. That is, some staff members would conduct the survey with the person who first answered the phone, regardless of whether or not they were the person with the most recent birthday in multi-adult households. This lapse was discovered in November 2013 and the protocol was reinstated. As a result, the sample should be considered a convenience sample rather than a random sample of Connecticut residents. Details regarding the survey protocol are found in Appendix B.

We obtained 11,756 unduplicated residential landline numbers from the Marketing Systems Group of Horsham, Pennsylvania (see Figure 1) and attempted to contact 8,384 households during the survey period. Of the 3,411 calls in which the interviewers spoke with a household member, 629 individuals completed (599) or partially completed (30) the survey and 2,782 individuals declined to participate in the survey. Using the formula developed by the American Association for Public Opinion Research,<sup>55</sup> the overall response rate was 6.4%.



#### Figure 1. Consumer survey phone number list disposition

#### **Analytic sample**

Survey data were collected using REDCap (Research Electronic Data Capture), a secure webbased application hosted at the University of Connecticut Health Center. Six hundred and eighty-three surveys were recorded in REDCap. We set aside 2 duplicate surveys, 51 surveys that were missing responses to all or most of the survey items, and 1 survey in which the interviewer discovered the participant was under age 18 when collecting demographic data at the conclusion of the survey. The analytic sample included the remaining 629 participants.

#### **Analytic approach**

Descriptive statistics were used to summarize the distributions of the survey variables. We identified factors associated with participants' attitudes toward HIT and HIE using chi-squared and Fisher's exact tests. Specifically, we investigated the following outcomes: (1) any online experience, (2) familiarity with HIE, EMRs, PHRs, or the Connecticut HIE, (3) support for a national HIE and privacy concerns (versus other concerns) as a perceived barrier to HIE, (4) preference for an "opt-in" or "opt-out" HIE consent model, (5) beliefs that HIT would improve the quality of medical care, the doctor-patient relationship, and reduce unnecessary tests or procedures or medical errors, (6) interest in using a PHR, and (7) interest in allowing deidentified health information to be shared electronically. Factors that were significantly associated (p<.05) with attitudes toward HIT and HIE in the bivariate analyses were then included in multivariable logistic regression models. Factors used in our models included demographic characteristics (self-reported health, chronic health condition, health literacy, and an indicator of whether or not the participant's doctor had an EMR system). We used SAS 9.4 for all statistical analyses.

# **Results**

#### **Sample characteristics**

Table 2 summarizes the characteristics of the 629 people who completed a survey. Nearly twothirds (64%) of participants were female. Ages ranged from 18 to 92 and the median age was 59. Nearly a third (31%) of the sample was 65 or older. Most participants (79%) were white and more than half (57%) had a college degree or higher. The median household income was \$80,000; 20% reported a household income of \$100,000 or higher (although more than half of participants did not report their income).

Comparing the characteristics of the consumer survey sample to demographic information for Connecticut from the US Census Bureau,<sup>56</sup> we observed that the survey sample had a higher proportion of individuals who were women, older, better educated, and with a higher median income than the state population. Because 16% of the survey participants were missing information on race and 19% were missing information on ethnicity, we could not draw firm conclusions about whether or not the survey sample was similar to the state population in terms of its racial and ethnic composition.

	Sai	nple	CT Pop	ulation
	(N=	=629)	(N=3,5	74,097)
-	N	%	Ν	%
Age				
18 - 34	28	4.4	648,275	$18.1^{1}$
35 - 44	66	10.5	484,438	13.5
45 - 54	125	19.9	575 <i>,</i> 597	16.1
55 - 64	134	21.3	443,452	12.4
65+	197	31.3	506,559	14.2
G	79	12.6		
Median	ļ	59	4	0
Gender				
Female	404	64.2	1,834,483	51.3
Male	189	30.1	1,739,614	48.8
Missing	36	5.7		
Race				
White	497	79.0	2,772,410	77.6
Black	22	3.5	362,296	10.1
Other	12	1.9	439,391	12.3
Missing	98	15.6		
Ethnicity				
Non-Hispanic/Latino	495	78.7	3,095,010	86.6
Hispanic/Latino	12	1.9	479,087	13.4
Missing	122	19.4		
Education				

#### Table 2. Demographic characteristics of the survey participants

	Sar (N=	nple =629)	CT Pop (N=3,5	ulation 74,097)		
< 9 <sup>th</sup> grade	2	0.3	109,649	4.5		
Some high school	8	1.3	158,805	6.5		
High school	99	15.7	677,253	27.9		
Some college	100	15.9	429,013	17.6		
College <sup>2</sup>	211	33.6	671,728	27.6		
Graduate school	153	24.3	384,892	15.8		
Missing	56	8.9				
Income	Ν	%	Ν	%		
< \$50,000	77	12.2				
\$50,000 - \$99,999	95	15.1				
>= \$100,000	125	19.9				
Missing	322	52.8				
Median	\$80,000 \$69,519					
<sup>1</sup> The American FactFinder table only displays age groups from 20-34. <sup>2</sup> Includes individuals earning Associate's and Bachelor's degrees.						

#### Current health, health care use and satisfaction with care

Respondents were asked several questions about their current health and physician visits to gain a sense of the extent to which they interacted with the health care system. As shown in Table 3, more than half (54%) of the participants described their health as excellent or very good. Around a third (34%) of participants said they had a chronic health condition. In terms of the frequency with which they visited a doctor or physician's assistant in the last 12 months, around a quarter of participants reported 1-2 or 3-4 visits and around a third reported more than 6 visits. Nearly 90% of participants were satisfied with the care they received from their doctor or physician's assistant.

When asked if their physician's office had implemented an electronic medical record system, nearly half (49%) of participants said yes, and a third were not sure.

Table 5. Cullent licaltit, licaltit care	use and sat	islaction with
	Ν	%
Health status		
Excellent	118	18.8
Very good	222	35.3
Good	166	26.4
Fair	61	9.7
Poor	12	1.9
Don't know	6	0.9
Missing	44	7.0
Diagnosed with chronic condition		
Yes	213	33.8

Table 3. Current health, health care use and satisfaction with care (N=629)

	Ν	%
No	371	59.0
Unsure	8	1.3
Missing	37	5.9
Doctor or PA visits in last year		
Did not see a doctor	25	4.0
1-2 times	148	23.5
3-4 times	157	25.0
More than 4 times	228	36.2
Missing	71	11.3
Satisfaction with health care		
Do not regularly visit a doctor	21	3.3
Very satisfied	408	64.9
Mostly satisfied	152	24.2
Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied	17	2.7
Slightly satisfied	20	3.2
Not at all satisfied	10	1.6
Missing	1	0.2
Doctor has implemented an electro	nic medical	record
Yes	308	49.0
No	78	12.4
Unsure	212	33.7
Missing	31	4.9

#### **Health literacy**

The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention define health literacy as "the capacity to obtain, process, and understand basic health information and services to make appropriate health decisions."<sup>57</sup> A key requirement supporting health literacy is the availability of health-related information that patients can understand and use to make informed health care decisions. Table 4 shows that almost two-thirds (63%) of participants said they read the printed health-related information they received from their physician and most participants said the material was not difficult to understand (61%) and did not contain words they were unfamiliar with (56%). However, of the participants who reported some of the words in the printed materials were unfamiliar to them, fewer than half (42%) asked for an explanation. The majority (87%) of participants said they understood what their doctor said to them during their last visit. In contrast with responses to unfamiliar words in printed materials, most (80%) participants who did not understand something their doctor said to them reported receiving an explanation.

The last time you received printed information from your doctor	Sample (N=629)	
	Ν	%
How much of it did you read?		
A lot	273	43.4
Some	121	19.2
None	97	15.4
Don't remember; don't know	88	14.0
Missing	50	8.0
Was any of it hard to understand?		
Yes	65	10.3
No	385	61.2
Unsure	75	11.9
Missing	104	16.5
Were any words unfamiliar?		
Yes	98	15.6
No	351	55.8
Not sure	76	12.1
Missing	104	16.5
If you had trouble with some of the words, did you ask for help to understand the material? <sup>1</sup>	Sai (N	mple =98)
Yes	41	41.8
No	53	54.1
Not sure	3	3.1
Missing	1	1.0
Did your doctor use any words you did not understand during your last visit?	Saı (N:	mple =629)
Yes	45	7.2
No	544	86.5
Don't know	9	1.4
Missing	31	4.9
If you did not understand some words, did the doctor explain? <sup>2</sup>	Sample (N=45)	
Yes	36	80.0
No	8	17.8
Not sure	1	2.2
	6.1	1

**Table 4. Health literacy** 

<sup>1</sup>Only those participants who said they had trouble understanding some of the words in the printed material they received from their doctor's office answered this question.

<sup>2</sup>Only those participants who said they had trouble understanding some of the words their doctor used during their last office visit answered this question.

#### Sources of health or medical information

One way in which health care consumers take an active role in managing their health is by educating themselves with information obtained from their health care providers and other sources. The majority (79%) of participants reported having ever looked for information on health or medical topics, with the Internet being the most common source of information (Table 5).

#### Table 5. Sources of health or medical information

	Sample (N=629)	
	Ν	%
Ever looked for health or medical information		
Yes	496	78.8
No	100	15.9
Don't know	3	0.5
Missing	30	4.8
Most recent time, looked for medical information from <sup>1</sup>	San (N=	1ple 496)
The Internet	432	87.1
Physician	74	14.9
Book	47	9.5
Magazine	36	7.3
Journal	30	6.1
Another doctor	23	4.6
Other	12	2.4
Friends or family <sup>2</sup>	5	1.0
Pamphlets <sup>2</sup>	5	1.0
Other health care provider <sup>2</sup>	3	0.6
TV <sup>2</sup>	2	0.4
<sup>1</sup> Only those participants who said they had ever looked for information	n about health	or medical

<sup>1</sup>Only those participants who said they had ever looked for information about health or medical topics answered this question. Participants could select more than one information source. <sup>2</sup>These categories were derived from responses to the "Other" category.

#### Experiences with information technology

Participants were asked about their use of the Internet to search for health-related information or use of online banking to assess their experience with electronic technology (Table 6). These questions provide a general sense of whether participants have the basic skills needed to use health information technology. Nearly half of participants had used the Internet to find health-related information in the past month (48%) or used online banking services (47%).

We created an indicator of "any online experience." If the participant reported ever looking for health-related information using the Internet (i.e., if they reported using the Internet the last time they looked for health-related information or had used the Internet in the past 30 days to find health related information) or had accessed banking information online in the past week, we set the indicator to "yes." Otherwise, the indicator was set to "no" or missing (if all three questions were missing valid response values). The majority (77%) of participants reported ever having gone online.

College (OR=3.42) or graduate school education (OR=4.61) or having a doctor who used an EMR (OR=1.72) were positively associated with any online experience. Please see Appendix C, Table C 1 for detailed results from the logistic regression analysis.

Here often used Internet to Cind health related information in need	NT	0/
How often used internet to find health-related information in past	IN	%
30 days		
None	287	45.6
1-5 times	233	37.0
6 or more times	68	10.8
Missing	41	6.5
How often accessed banking information online in past 7 days		
None	283	45.0
1-5 times	224	35.6
6 or more times	72	11.4
Missing	50	8.0
Any online experience		
Yes	485	77.1
No	144	22.9

 Table 6. Experiences with information technology (N=629)

#### Awareness of HIE and HIT

A key precursor to using health information technology or participating in health information exchange is an awareness of these concepts. Table 7 shows that most participants reported they had heard about electronic medical records (83%) and electronic health information exchange (65%). Half of participants had heard of personal health records. Most participants (83%) had never heard of the Connecticut Health Information Exchange.

Participants with college or graduate school education, who had a doctor who used an EMR, or who had online experience (i.e., Internet use or online banking use) had higher odds of being more familiar (i.e., "a lot" or "some" familiarity) with health information exchange (ORs=2.11, 5.26, 2.31, 2.50, respectively) and electronic medical records (ORs=2.54, 4.81, 3.88, 3.39, respectively). In addition, women had almost twice the odds of reporting "a lot" or "some" familiarity with electronic health records compared with men. Participants who had online experience (i.e., Internet use or online banking use) had higher odds of being more familiar with personal health records (OR=2.45). Familiarity with the Connecticut Health Information Exchange was positively associated with having a college (OR=2.85) or graduate school education (OR=3.02), having a doctor who used an EMR (OR=1.68), or having a chronic health condition (OR=1.79). Please see Appendix C, Table C 2 through Table C 5 for detailed results from the logistic regression analyses.

			- 0-			- 0, (		/		
Have you heard about	Α	lot	So	me	Not	at all	Un	sure	Mis	sing
	Ν	%	Ν	%	Ν	%	Ν	%	Ν	%
Electronic health information exchange	173	27.5	234	37.2	203	32.3	15	2.4	4	0.6
Electronic medical records	274	43.6	250	39.8	94	14.9	7	1.1	4	0.6
Personal health records	129	20.5	188	29.9	297	47.2	10	1.6	5	0.8
The Connecticut Health Information Exchange	27	4.3	71	11.3	519	82.5	8	1.3	4	0.6

#### Table 7. Awareness of health information exchange and technology (N=629)

#### Attitudes toward health information exchange

When asked to imagine a nationwide health information exchange that was accessible to both patients and health care providers in which health information could be shared only with patients' consent, 72% of participants said they would favor such a system (Table 8). Online experience (i.e., Internet use or online banking use) (OR=1.95) and having a chronic health condition (OR=1.80) were positively associated with favoring a nationwide HIE. Please see Appendix C, Table C 6 for detailed results from the logistic regression analysis.

More than half (57%) of participants felt the most prominent barrier to achieving a nationwide HIE was privacy. Online experience (i.e., Internet use or online banking use) (OR=2.24) and not having a chronic health condition (OR=1.61) were positively associated with indicating privacy concerns (versus any other reason) represented the primary barrier to achieving a national HIE. Please see Appendix C, Table C 7 for detailed results from the logistic regression analysis.

This concern is related to the concept of "patient consent," the mechanism through which an HIE obtains permission to share patients' health information. Sixty-four percent of participants favored the "opt-in" model which requires them to explicitly grant permission to share their health information (i.e., information *is not* shared by default). Twenty-one percent of participants favored the "opt-out" model, which requires them to explicitly deny permission to share their health information (i.e., information *is* shared by default). Thirteen percent of share their health information (i.e., information *is* shared by default). Thirteen percent of participants did not know which HIE consent model they preferred.

Graduate school education level (OR=2.46), online experience (i.e., Internet use or online banking use) (OR=2.70) and being male (OR=1.78) were positively associated with favoring an "opt-in" consent model (compared with "opt-out" or "don't know"). Please see Appendix C, Table C 8 for detailed results from the logistic regression analysis.

	Ν	%
Support for national HIE		
Strongly favor	99	15.7
Favor	351	55.8
Oppose	97	15.4
Strongly oppose	33	5.3
Missing	49	7.8
<b>Barriers to achieve national HIE</b>		
Privacy concerns	356	56.6
Cost	74	11.8
Don't know	71	11.3
Compatibility of multiple networks	34	5.4
Limited public support	29	4.6
Liability	21	3.3
None of the above	28	4.5
Missing	16	2.5
Consent model for HIE		
Opt-in	401	63.7
Opt-out	130	20.7
Don't know	80	12.7
Missing	18	2.9

Table 8. Perceptions of national health information exchange and consent model (N=629)

# Perceived benefits of health information technology and interest in sharing health information electronically

Most participants thought HIT adoption offered benefits in terms of better quality of care (73%), better doctor-patient interaction (68%), fewer medical errors (65%) and duplicate tests and procedures (71%) (Table 9).

Males (OR=1.85) and participants with chronic health conditions (OR=2.02) had higher odds of agreeing that health information technology adoption would improve quality of care. There were no characteristics associated with the odds of agreeing that health information technology adoption would improve doctor-patient interactions or help to reduce medical errors or unnecessary tests or procedures. Please see Appendix C, Table C 9 through Table C 12 for detailed results from the logistic regression analyses.

#### Table 9. Benefits of health information technology adoption (N=629)

	Agree		Neutral		Disagree		Missing	
	Ν	%	Ν	%	Ν	%	Ν	%
Improve quality of care	456	72.5	94	14.9	54	8.6	25	4.0
Improve doctor-patient interaction	427	67.9	95	15.1	81	12.9	26	4.1
Reduce medical errors	407	64.7	107	17.0	85	13.5	30	4.8
Reduce repeated tests and procedures	447	71.1	71	11.3	81	12.9	30	4.8

Opinions were more divided when it came to personal use of health information technology (Table 10). A little more than half of participants reported an interest in having an electronic personal health record where they could manage their health information on a secure website (53%) or in allowing their de-identified health information from their doctor's electronic health record system to be shared with outside entities such as health insurance plans, researchers, and other companies (57%).

Online experience (i.e., Internet use or online banking use) was positively associated with interest in having a personal health record (OR=4.57) or allowing their health information to be shared (OR=2.27). Please see Appendix C, Table C 13 and Table C 14 for detailed results from the logistic regression analyses.

The for interest in accessing and sharing nearly interest in the interest of the state of the st						
How interested would	Having access	to an electronic	Giving permission to share de-identifie			
you be in	personal r	lealth record	health related inform	hation electronically		
	Ν	%	Ν	%		
Very interested	143	22.7	151	24.0		
Somewhat interested	190	30.2	216	34.3		
Not very interested	135	21.5	95	15.1		
Not at all interested	156	24.8	150	23.9		
Missing	5	0.8	17	2.7		

#### Table 10. Interest in accessing and sharing health information electronically (N=629)

As summarized in Table 11, participants who were not interested in having access to an electronic personal health record or allowing access to their de-identified health information most often cited privacy concerns as the reason for their lack of interest (47% and 74%, respectively). When it came to sharing their de-identified health information, 10 of the 24 participants who answered "Other" expressed concerns about how insurance companies might use their health information. The general belief was that any data sharing would be to the benefit of the insurance companies (e.g., to limit coverage, or to increase insurance premiums or corporate profits) rather than the consumers.

Reasons you would not be interested in	Having access to an electronic personal health record <sup>1</sup> (N=291)		Giving permi identified health electronic	ssion to share de- related information cally <sup>1</sup> (N=245)
	Ν	0/02	Ν	<sup>0</sup> / <sub>0</sub> <sup>2</sup>
Concerned about privacy	137	47.1	181	73.9
Don't feel it's necessary	77	26.5	32	13.1
Unfamiliar with technology	34	11.7	12	4.9
No Internet access	41	14.1	2	0.8
Too much responsibility	14	4.8	2	0.8
Might cost too much	4	1.4	5	2.0
Don't know	10	3.4	9	3.7
Other	19	6.5	24	9.8

#### Table 11. Barriers to accessing and sharing health information electronically

<sup>1</sup>Only the participants who said they were "not very interested" or "not at all interested" in having access to a PHR or allowing their de-identified health information to be shared electronically answered these questions.

<sup>2</sup>Total percentage may exceed 100 because participants could select more than one reason.

Participants were asked what might persuade them to sign up for an electronic personal health record (Table 12). In line with their concerns expressed in previous questions, feeling that they could trust the organization in charge of collecting and maintaining their information (38%) and feeling that the organization had policies to safeguard their privacy (35%) emerged as the most frequently mentioned factors.

	Ν	<sup>0</sup> / <sub>0</sub> 1		
Trust in organization	240	38.2		
Safeguards (privacy policies)	219	34.8		
Not interested <sup>2</sup>	26	4.1		
Having centralized access to health information <sup>2</sup>	24	3.8		
Popularity with family and friends	19	3.0		
Improved quality of care <sup>2</sup>	8	1.3		
Already have a personal health record <sup>2</sup>	7	1.1		
Cost to the individual <sup>2</sup>	4	0.6		
Reduced medical costs <sup>2</sup>	3	0.5		
Insurance company mandate <sup>2</sup>	2	0.3		
Already interested in having a personal health record <sup>2</sup>	1	0.2		
Ease of use <sup>2</sup>	1	0.2		
Don't know	125	19.9		
Other	17	2.7		
<sup>1</sup> Total percentage may exceed 100 because participants could select more than one answer.				
<sup>2</sup> These categories were derived from responses to the "Other" category.				

### Table 12. Factors that would encourage consumers to sign up for an electronic personal health record (N=629)

Most participants (88%) reported they would not intentionally withhold information from their doctor (Table 13). However, when asked if they would do so if there was the potential for their de-identified health information to be shared via their doctor's electronic health record system, the percentage of participants who said they were unsure shifted from 3% to 9%. Once again, privacy concerns emerged as the most prevalent reason participants chose to explain why they would withhold information from their doctor if the potential for that information being shared electronically existed (88%).

0	Ŷ	es	No		Not Sure		Mis	sing
	Ν	%	Ν	%	Ν	%	Ν	%
Would you ever purposely withhold information	50	8.0	551	87.6	19	3.0	9	1.4
from your doctor?								
Would you purposely withhold information	56	8.9	499	79.3	55	8.7	19	3.0
from your doctor if your doctor had an electronic								
health record that would allow him or her to								
share your de-identified health information?								
Reasons to withhold information from doctor if				Sam	nple			
you knew it could be shared electronically <sup>1</sup>				(N=	56)			
		]	N			0/	6	
Privacy reasons		4	<b>1</b> 9				87.	5
Emotional reasons			5				8.	9
Other reason			5				8.	9
Concerned how insurance company will use			2				3.	6
information <sup>2</sup>								
Don't know			1				1.	8
<sup>1</sup> Only participants who said they would withhold inform	natior	n from	their d	loctor if	f the d	octor h	ad an	EHR
that would permit sharing de-identified information ans	were	d this o	questio	n. Mor	e than	one re	ason c	could
be selected.								
<sup>2</sup> This category was derived from responses to the "Other	r" cate	egory.						

#### Table 13. Sharing health information with doctor

#### Location of consumers by town

We evaluated the geographic representation of the analytic sample using respondents' selfreported zip code. The respondents represented 109 of Connecticut's 169 towns. The number of respondents per town ranged from 0 to 22. Manchester and West Hartford each had 22 respondents followed by 17 in Bristol and 16 in Danbury. Sixty towns had no respondents. Towns without respondents were outside of the urban regions of Hartford, New Haven and the I-95 corridor. Map 1 on the following page shows the respondent counts by towns.

Map 1. Survey Responses by Towns in Connecticut



### Discussion

#### Summary of descriptive results

This study documented that Connecticut consumers are well aware of HIT and HIE. Eight out of ten participants had heard about EMRs, nearly twothirds had heard about HIE and half had heard about PHRs. In contrast, eight out of ten participants had never heard of the Connecticut HIE. Although



national estimates of HIE familiarity are lacking, national estimates of familiarity with EMRs and PHRs are consistent with our results. The finding that participants were generally unaware of the Connecticut HIE points to the need for increased efforts to promote the state's activities in this domain but mostly is an accurate reflection of its non-operational status.

Our results also described widespread support for HIE and broad recognition of the potential benefits HIT and HIE offer. Nearly three-quarters of participants favored the creation of a nationwide HIE that was accessible to both doctors and patients. Two-thirds to nearly three-quarters of participants believed that HIT could improve health care quality and doctor-patient interaction and reduce medical errors and unnecessary tests. Once again, our results are in line with estimates from national surveys and suggest that these favorable attitudes may serve as a springboard for engaging consumers in the state's HIT and HIE initiatives.

However, there appears to be a gap between support for HIT and HIE *in theory* and interest in actually *using* these technologies. A little more than half of participants were "very" or "somewhat" interested in signing up for a PHR or allowing their de-identified health information from their doctor's EMR to be shared with health insurance plans, researchers, or other companies. Comparable national estimates of interest in PHRs range from 40% to 68%.

Contrasted with the results from the California Health Foundation survey (which was the source for our survey's question regarding interest in HIE), which revealed 32% of Americans indicated an interest in HIE, Connecticut's results (57%) were more favorable. It is possible that more participants might have expressed an interest in HIE if the question had not referenced health insurance companies as potential recipients of deidentified health information. A small number of participants voiced strong reservations about sharing their health information out of fear that insurance companies would use that information to limit coverage or increase health insurance premiums. These results



Two-thirds to nearly threequarters of participants believed that HIT could improve health care quality and doctor-patient interaction and reduce medical errors and unnecessary tests.

suggest that more work needs to be done to win consumers' trust and to negotiate how and with whom consumers' health information will be shared. Previous research has found that consumers show greater willingness to share their de-identified health information for research or public health purposes and to improve health care quality and efficiency.<sup>32</sup> Unfortunately, our survey question did not differentiate between sharing health information with public

versus private or commercial entities. Yet, given the national findings, Connecticut might win greater public support for HIE if consumers were given the option to specify the recipients of their health information.

Notably, a significant minority of participants in our survey simply did not feel that PHRs (27%) or HIE (13%) were necessary, despite the fact that that they were just as likely as other participants to recognize the aforementioned benefits of HIT adoption. Education and outreach efforts aimed at these consumers need to address the potential benefits of HIT and HIE in ways that are meaningful to them personally. Additionally, future efforts need to better understand the needs of this group as well as gain an in-depth understanding of the context of their responses.

As was reported in several national and regional surveys, concern about the privacy and security of their health information was the most prevalent reason participants offered for their lack of interest in participating in HIT or HIE. This concern was echoed in responses to the question asking participants to identify the primary factor that would encourage them to sign

up for a PHR. More than a third of participants indicated that trust in the organization or physician hosting the PHR (38%) or safeguards and privacy policies (35%) were most important.

Consent to participate in HIE is a contentious issue that requires balancing consumers' desire to exercise control over their personal health information and the (sometimes competing) interests that clinicians, public health departments, researchers, and others have in using that information for their own purposes. In line with previous studies, <sup>31,43,46,47</sup> nearly two-thirds (64%) of participants in this study favored an "opt-in" consent model, which stipulates that their health information may not be shared More than a third of participants indicated that trust in the organization or physician hosting the PHR (38%) or safeguards and privacy policies (35%) were primary factors that would encourage them to sign up for a PHR.

without their permission. Yet this finding is not necessarily a reason for health care providers and other organizations eager to gain access to patients' health information to feel discouraged. As Zaghi noted, "[e]xperience in the Massachusetts pilot program and other state-level exchanges demonstrate that opt-in models can yield high consumer participation rates, but requires a lot of awareness, trust building and education for the community."<sup>58</sup> We did not ask participants to elaborate on their consent preferences, however, there is evidence suggesting that some consumers prefer to grant access to their health information on a granular level<sup>31,43,46</sup> as opposed to providing "blanket" consent to unknown recipients. This finding may have implications for the current "opt-out" consent policy which has been adopted by HITE-CT. Given that we do not have an operational HIE, there still may be time to revise the decision on the consent model so that it reflects consumers' various preferences alongside those of other interested parties' and will no doubt require negotiation and compromise in order for HIE to succeed.

Moreover, the HIE consent model that Connecticut selects has implications that extend beyond the design of the state HIE system and efforts to promote consumers' participation. Nine percent of the participants in this survey indicated they would withhold information from their

doctor if there was a possibility that their health information might be shared with other parties, and their primary reason for doing so was out of concern for the privacy and security of their medical information. National estimates revealed that 12%<sup>53</sup> of Americans admitted to withholding information from their health care provider for that very reason and 15%<sup>1</sup> said they would consider doing so if they thought their doctor's EMR system might exchange their deidentified health information with other organizations. These findings need to be given careful consideration because, irrespective of the HIE consent model Connecticut implements, some consumers may decide privately to "opt-out" of information sharing by withholding information from their physicians. Such behavior may compromise individual and public health and introduce the potential for selection bias in research findings if those consumers who withhold information differ in systematic ways from those who do not.

#### Consumer characteristics associated with attitudes toward HIT and HIE

Online experience (i.e., Internet use or online banking activities) was the most robust predictor of familiarity with, support for, and interest in HIT and HIE. Although this is not a surprising finding and is consistent with previous research, it points to the need to engage the minority (23%) of participants in this survey who said they had not used the Internet to search for health-related information or to conduct online banking. Although our indicator of online experience may have failed to detect participants who had used the Internet for *other* purposes (i.e., we did not have a question that asked participants "Have you ever used the Internet?"), the most recent national estimates suggest that 15% of U.S. adults still do not use the Internet.<sup>12</sup> Because consumers' reasons for not using the Internet vary (e.g., lack of access, lack of interest), it is important to investigate consumers' barriers to Internet use and to devise strategies for overcoming them.

College or graduate school education levels and having a doctor who has implemented an EMR system were also positively associated with greater familiarity with HIE and EMRs. These results suggest the need to focus HIT and HIE education efforts on consumers with less education and also highlight the potential for physicians to participate in "HIE outreach" by implementing EMRs in their practices and discussing EMR uses and benefits with patients. Specifically, education and outreach efforts will have to use multiple approaches rather than relying on the traditional print media alone.

Participants who were male, reported graduate school education levels or who had online experience (i.e., Internet use or online banking activities) had higher odds or favoring an "opt-in" consent model for HIE compared with participants who were female, had high school or lower education levels or no online experience. We did not probe for reasons *why* participants selected a particular consent model, but it is worth noting that 13% of survey participants did not know *which* consent model they preferred. Although consumers may be familiar with the concept of "opting-out" or "opting-in" through experience with mandatory notification about information sharing from their financial institutions, it is vital that Connecticut's HIE education and outreach efforts describe clearly the implications of the model that is selected to ensure consumers are providing *informed* consent rather than consent based on insufficient or inaccurate knowledge.

Participants who had ever been diagnosed with a chronic health condition had higher odds of supporting the creation of a national HIE and of believing that HIE would improve health care quality. They were also less inclined to see privacy as a barrier to creating a nationwide HIE. It is possible that consumers with chronic health conditions are more enthusiastic about HIE because their frequent encounters with the health care system have underscored for them the importance of sharing health information between multiple providers to improve care coordination. With much to gain from HIE, consumers with chronic health conditions may agree with the national estimates that suggest the plurality of consumers believe the benefits of HIE outweigh the potential risks to privacy and security.<sup>29,40,43</sup>

#### Limitations

There are several limitations to this study that bear mentioning. Although we used a randomdigit-dial survey approach to minimize selection bias, our calling lists did not include mobile phone number and, as a result, our findings may not generalize to consumers who do not reside in households with a landline. In addition, the unintended change to the survey screening protocol that occurred in tandem with staff turnover in 2012 (and which was not discovered until the final two months of the survey) resulted in a sample that was older, more educated, wealthier, and with a higher proportion of women and white participants than is characteristic of Connecticut's general population. Because age, education, income, race-ethnicity and gender have been associated in some previous research with HIT and HIE attitudes and acceptance, the non-representative nature of our sample further limits our ability to generalize these results.

We were unable to investigate associations between the HIT and HIE outcomes and age or raceethnicity that have been reported elsewhere due to missing data (i.e., 13% of participants were missing information on age, 16% were missing information on race, and 19% were missing information on ethnicity) and the lack of race-ethnicity variation in this sample (i.e., 79% of participants were white and non-Hispanic). One method for addressing the problem of missing data is *multiple imputation*,<sup>59</sup> which replaces missing data with a set of statistically-generated plausible values. We plan to investigate this option to analyze the age data in the near future.

#### Conclusion

This was the first survey of Connecticut consumers dedicated to examining their preferences regarding HIT and HIE. We found that many consumers were aware of and interested in HIT and HIE along with their potential for improving health care delivery, but they maintain reservations related to the privacy and security of their personal health information. We identified specific topics and target populations for education and outreach efforts aimed at motivating consumers' adoption of HIT and HIE and we discussed the limitations of our sample. Despite the limitations noted, our results were consistent with those reported by national and regional surveys, and contributed new information on consumer characteristics that were associated with HIT and HIE familiarity and support.

We noted that *consumer engagement* will play a critical role in the adoption of HIT and HIE and in their potential to generate lasting improvements the U.S. health care system.<sup>10</sup> However, the "buy-in" required from multiple competing interests – including consumers – represents a significant challenge to the adoption and implementation of statewide HIEs. Unless consumers

are willing and able to participate in HIT and HIE, the expected gains to the health care system may never be realized fully despite billions of dollars in government investments. Understanding consumers' viewpoints, then, is key to winning the public support that is necessary to ensure an HIE that is sustainable.

The Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health (HITECH) Act aims to "improve health care and make it patient-centric through the creation of a secure, interoperable nationwide information network. A key premise is that information should follow the patient, and artificial obstacles – technical, bureaucratic, or business related – should not be a barrier to the seamless exchange of information."<sup>60</sup> The estimates of Connecticut consumers' perspectives on HIT and HIE that we have described in this study offer meaningful information to state policy makers and stakeholders as they engage in strategic planning for these technologies, and will help to ensure that the HITECH Act's overarching goal of facilitating the availability of health information in support of a connected and seamless health care delivery system with improved treatment outcomes is achieved.

# Endnotes

1. California Health Foundation. Consumers and health information technology: A national survey. <u>http://www.chcf.org/publications/2010/04/consumers-and-health-information-technology-a-national-survey</u>. Updated 2010. Accessed January 15, 2014.

2. Chaudhry B, Wang J, Wu S, et al. Systematic review: impact of health information technology on quality, efficiency, and costs of medical care. *Ann Intern Med.* 2006;144(10):742-752.

3. Walker J, Pan E, Johnston D, Adler-Milstein J, Bates DW, Middleton B. The value of health care information exchange and interoperability. *Health Aff (Millwood)*. 2005;Suppl Web Exclusives:W5-10-W5-18.

4. Blumenthal D. Launching HITECH. N Engl J Med. 2010;362(5):382-385.

5. Walker JM, Carayon P. From tasks to processes: the case for changing health information technology to improve health care. *Health Aff (Millwood)*. 2009;28(2):467-477.

6. Diamond CC, Mostashari F, Shirky C. Collecting and sharing data for population health: a new paradigm. *Health Aff (Millwood)*. 2009;28(2):454-466.

7. Steinbrook R. Personally controlled online health data--the next big thing in medical care? *N Engl J Med.* 2008;358(16):1653-1656.

8. Markle Foundation. Survey finds Americans want electronic personal health information to improve own health care.

http://www.markle.org/sites/default/files/research\_doc\_120706.pdf. Updated 2006. Accessed January 15, 2014.

9. Patel VN, Dhopeshwarkar RV, Edwards A, Barron Y, Sparenborg J, Kaushal R. Consumer support for health information exchange and personal health records: a regional health information organization survey. *J Med Syst.* 2012;36(3):1043-1052.

10. Tripathi M, Delano D, Lund B, Rudolph L. Engaging patients for health information exchange. *Health Aff (Millwood)*. 2009;28(2):435-443.

11. Massachusetts General Hospital, School of Public Health and Health Services at George Washington University. Health information technology in the United States: Where we stand. <u>http://www.rwjf.org/en/research-publications/find-rwjf-research/2008/01/health-information-technology-in-the-united-states.html</u>. Updated 2008. Accessed January 15, 2014.

12. Zickuhr K. Who's Not Online and Why. <u>http://pewinternet.org/Reports/2013/Non-internet-users.aspx</u>. Updated 2013. Accessed January 15, 2014.

13. Hsu J, Huang J, Kinsman J, et al. Use of e-Health services between 1999 and 2002: A growing digital divide. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*. 2005;12(2):164-171.

14. Lustria ML, Smith SA, Hinnant CC. Exploring digital divides: An examination of eHealth technology use in health information seeking, communication and personal health information management in the USA. *Health informatics journal*. 2011;17(3):224-43.

15. Kiel JM. The digital divide: Internet and e-mail use by the elderly. *Med Inform Internet Med*. 2005;30(1):19-23.

16. Choi NG, Dinitto DM. The digital divide among low-income homebound older adults: Internet use patterns, eHealth literacy, and attitudes toward computer/Internet use. *Journal of medical Internet research*. 2013;15(5):e93.

17. Yamin CK, Emani S, Williams DH, et al. The digital divide in adoption and use of a personal health record. *Archives of internal medicine*. 2011;171(6):568-74.

 Zickuhr K, Smith A. Broadband 2013. <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/~/media//Files/Reports/2013/PIP\_Broadband%202013\_08261</u>
 <u>3.pdf</u>. Updated 2013. Accessed January 27, 2014.

19. File T, U.S. Census Bureau. Computer and Internet Use in the United States. <u>http://www.census.gov/prod/2013pubs/p20-569.pdf</u>. Updated 2013. Accessed January 15, 2014.

20. Zickuhr K, Smith A. Digital Differences. <u>http://pewinternet.org/Reports/2012/Digital-differences.aspx</u>. Updated 2012. Accessed January 15, 2014.

21. Livingston G, Parker K, Fox S. Latinos Online, 2006-2008: Narrowing the Gap. <u>http://www.pewhispanic.org/files/reports/119.pdf</u>. Updated 2009. Accessed January 15, 2014.

22. Livingston G. Latinos and Digital Technology, 2010. <u>http://www.pewhispanic.org/files/reports/134.pdf</u>. Updated 2010. Accessed January 15, 2014.

23. Fox S, Livingston G. Latinos Online. <u>http://www.pewhispanic.org/files/reports/73.pdf</u>. Updated 2007. Accessed January 15, 2014.

24. Zarcadoolas C, Vaughon WL, Czaja SJ, Levy J, Rockoff ML. Consumers' perceptions of patient-accessible electronic medical records. *Journal of medical Internet research*. 2013;15(8):e168.

25. Tu H. Surprising decline in consumers seeking health information. Center for Studying Health System Change Web site. <u>http://www.hschange.com/CONTENT/1260/1260.pdf</u>. Updated 2011. Accessed January 7, 2011.

26. Ybarra ML, Suman M. Help seeking behavior and the Internet: a national survey. *Int J Med Inform*. 2006;75(1):29-41.

27. Atkinson NL, Saperstein SL, Pleis J. Using the internet for health-related activities: findings from a national probability sample. *J Med Internet Res*. 2009;11(1):e4.

28. Cotten SR, Gupta SS. Characteristics of online and offline health information seekers and factors that discriminate between them. *Soc Sci Med.* 2004;59(9):1795-1806.

29. Liang L. Release of Consumer Survey Results.

http://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&ved=0CDUQFjAA& url=http%3A%2F%2Fxnet.kp.org%2Fkphealthconnect%2Fevents%2Ftls%2FKP\_TLS\_LLiang\_Su rveyResults\_05022007.ppt&ei=C7DrUtLqGqXayAGv9YCwCA&usg=AFQjCNHT91970Qx571P WyNnswbUO\_apPsg&bvm=bv.60444564,d.aWc&cad=rja. Published 2007. Updated 2007. Accessed January 31, 2014.

30. Wen KY, Kreps G, Zhu F, Miller S. Consumers' perceptions about and use of the Internet for personal health records and health information exchange: Analysis of the 2007 Health Information National Trends Survey. *J Med Internet Res.* 2010;12(4):e73.

31. Markle Foundation. Americans overwhelmingly believe electronic personal health records could improve their health. <u>http://www.markle.org/sites/default/files/ResearchBrief-</u>200806.pdf</u>. Updated 2008. Accessed January 15, 2014.

32. Markle Foundation. The public and doctors overwhelmingly agree on health IT priorities to improve patient care.

http://www.markle.org/sites/default/files/20110110\_HINLSurveyBrief\_0.pdf. Updated 2010. Accessed January 15, 2014.

33. Markle Foundation. Americans want benefits of personal health records. <u>http://www.markle.org/sites/default/files/phwg\_survey.pdf</u>. Updated 2003. Accessed January 15, 2014.

34. Gaylin DS, Moiduddin A, Mohamoud S, Lundeen K, Kelly JA. Public attitudes about health information technology, and its relationship to health care quality, costs, and privacy. *Health Serv Res.* 2011;46(3):920-938.

35. Harris Interactive. Few Americans Using 'E-' Medical Records. <u>http://www.harrisinteractive.com/NewsRoom/HarrisPolls/tabid/447/mid/1508/articleId/4</u> <u>14/ctl/ReadCustom%20Default/Default.aspx</u>. Published June 17, 2010. Updated 2010. Accessed January 31, 2014.

36. National Cancer Institute. Health Information National Trends Survey. <u>http://hints.cancer.gov/question-details.aspx?qid=784</u>. Updated 2011. Accessed January 15, 2014.

37. Deloitte Center for Health Solutions. Deloitte 2008 Survey of Health Care Consumers. http://www.deloitte.com/assets/Dcom-UnitedStates/Local

Assets/Documents/us\_chs\_ConsumerSurveyExecutiveSummary\_2008\_121712.pdf. Updated 2008. Accessed January 31, 2014.

38. Carrell D, Ralston JD. Variation in adoption rates of a patient web portal with a shared medical record by age, gender, and morbidity level. *AMIA Annual Symposium Proceedings*. 2006:871.

39. O'Donnell HC, Patel V, Kern LM, et al. Healthcare consumers' attitudes towards physician and personal use of health information exchange. *Journal of general internal medicine*. 2011;26(9):1019-26.

40. Bright B. Benefits Of Electronic Health Records Seen as Outweighing Privacy Risks. http://online.wsj.com/article/SB119565244262500549.html?dsk=y. Published November 29, 2007. Updated 2007. Accessed January 31, 2014.

41. National Cancer Institute. HINTS Briefs Number 23: Health Information Technology and Meaningful Use. <u>http://hints.cancer.gov/docs/HINTS\_Brief\_23.pdf</u>. Updated 2013. Accessed January 15, 2014.

42. Ancker JS, Edwards AM, Miller MC, Kaushal R. Consumer perceptions of electronic health information exchange. *American journal of preventive medicine*. 2012;43(1):76-80.

43. Dimitropoulos L, Patel V, Scheffler SA, Posnack S. Public attitudes toward health information exchange: perceived benefits and concerns. *Am J Manag Care*. 2011;17(12 Spec No.):SP111-6.

44. Markle Foundation. Attitudes of Americans regarding personal health records and nationwide electronic information exchange.

http://www.markle.org/sites/default/files/research\_release\_101105.pdf. Updated 2005. Accessed January 15, 2014.

45. Grande D, Mitra N, Shah A, Wan F, Asch D. Public preferences about secondary uses of electronic health information. *JAMA Internal Medicine*. 2013;173(19):1798-1806.

46. Weitzman ER, Kaci L, Mandl KD. Sharing medical data for health research: The early personal health record experience. *Journal of medical Internet research*. 2010;12(2):e14.

47. Simon SR, Evans JS, Benjamin A, Delano D, Bates DW. Patients' attitudes toward electronic health information exchange: qualitative study. *J Med Internet Res.* 2009;11(3):e30.

48. Health Information Technology Exchange of Connecticut (HITE-CT). Board of Directors Meeting Minutes, November 21, 2011.

http://www.ct.gov/dph/lib/dph/state\_health\_planning/hit/hitect\_meetings\_2011/board\_minutes\_11.21.2011.pdf. Published November 21, 2011. Updated 2011. Accessed February 26, 2014.

49. Health Information Technology Exchange of Connecticut (HITE-CT). Board of Directors Meeting Minutes, April 4, 2011.

http://www.ct.gov/dph/lib/dph/state\_health\_planning/hit/hitect\_meetings\_2011/board\_minutes\_04.18.2011.pdf. Published April 4, 2011. Updated 2011. Accessed February 26, 2014.

50. Health Information Technology Exchange of Connecticut (HITE-CT). HIE-CT Consumer Authorization and Consent Policy V1.0. <u>http://www.ct.gov/hitect/lib/hitect/hite-</u> <u>ct\_consumer\_authorization\_&\_consent\_policy\_v1.pdf</u>. Published November 21, 2011. Updated 2011. Accessed February 26, 2014.

51. Patel VN, Abramson E, Edwards AM, Cheung MA, Dhopeshwarkar RV, Kaushal R. Consumer attitudes toward personal health records in a Beacon community. *Am J Manag Care*. 2011;17(4):e104-20.

52. Ancker J, Silver M, Miller M, Kaushal R. Consumer experiences with and attitudes toward health information technology: A nationwide survey. *Journal of the American Informatics Association*. 2013;20:152-156.

53. Agaku IT, Adisa AO, Ayo-Yusuf OA, Connolly GN. Concern about security and privacy, and perceived control over collection and use of health information are related to withholding of health information from healthcare providers. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association : JAMIA*. 2013.

54. McGraw D, Dempsey JX, Harris L, Goldman J. Privacy as an enabler, not an impediment: building trust into health information exchange. *Health Aff (Millwood)*. 2009;28(2):416-427.

55. American Association for Public Opinion Research. Response Rates - An Overview. <u>http://www.aapor.org/Response\_Rates\_An\_Overview1.htm#.Uu\_AFLS2w-1</u>. Updated 2011. Accessed January 15, 2014.

56. United States Census Bureau. Connecticut QuickFacts from the US Census Bureau. Connecticut QuickFacts from the US Census Bureau Web site. <u>http://quickfacts.census.gov/qfd/states/09000.html</u>. Updated 2013. Accessed December 30, 2013. 57. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Health Literacy. Health Literacy: Accurate, Accessible and Actionable Health Information for All Web site. <u>http://www.cdc.gov/healthliteracy/</u>. Updated 2014. Accessed January 15, 2014.

58. Zaghi B. "To opt-In or not? That is the question" Evaluation the opt-in consent option with the California Health Exchange. <u>http://www.himss.org/files/HIMSSorg/content/files/Line</u> 11 - HIE Case Study Opt in Vs Opt Out Consent Options.pdf. Published 2011. Updated 2011. Accessed February 7, 2014.

59. Rubin D. Multiple Imputation for Nonresponse in Surveys. New York: John Wiley & Sons; 1987.

60. Office of the National Coordinator. How does health information exchange support the goals of the HITECH Act? <u>http://www.healthit.gov/policy-researchers-</u> <u>implementers/faqs/how-does-information-exchange-support-goals-hitech-act</u>. Accessed February 11, 2014.

# **Appendix A**

**Survey Instrument** 

### **CONSUMER HEALTH INFORMATICS SURVEY**

#### Instructions appear in [UPPERCASE LETTERS ENCLOSED IN BRACKETS].

Text to be read aloud to participants appears in **bold**, **lowercase letters** 

Text that is underlined should be emphasized.

[THE FOLLOWING INTRODUCTORY INFORMATION WILL BE READ ALOUD TO INDIVIDUAL RESPONDENTS].

Hello, my name is \_\_\_\_\_\_ calling on behalf of the University of Connecticut Health Center. We are doing a survey about how health information technology such as electronic medical records affects health care consumers. Your responses will be used to better understand how individuals feel about the benefits and challenges associated with health IT. We are not trying to sell you anything. Your phone number has been chosen at random for this study.

I will not ask for your name, address, or other personal information that can identify you. I will, however, ask you for your zip code during the survey to correlate geographic information with your responses. You may refuse to give us your zip code if you so desire.

With your permission, I will record your phone number with your responses, so that we can contact you in the future for a follow-up survey. If you indicate that you would not like to participate in a follow-up survey, we will *not* record your phone number.

This survey is voluntary and will take about seven minutes to complete. You can refuse to participate or withdraw from the survey at any time. You can refuse to answer any question for any reason. The results of the survey will be publicly available when the study is complete; however, data will be reported in an aggregate form only. Your personal responses to questions will not be shared.

[IF THE RESPONDENT ASKS ANY OF THE FOLLOWING FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS, PLEASE PROVIDE THEM WITH THE APPROPRIATE RESPONSES:]

1. Why are you doing this study?

This study is part of a larger effort to assess awareness of and readiness for health information technology. Other individuals and groups that will be surveyed as part of this study include physicians, laboratories, and pharmacies. The information that is collected will give investigators a better understanding of how tools such as the electronic health record (EHR), the personal health record (PHR), and health information exchange (HIE) can serve as both a benefit and challenge within the current health care arena.

2. Who is funding this?

This project is currently being funded by the Connecticut Department of Public Health. This particular project, though funded by the CT Department of Public Health, is being carried out by the University of Connecticut Health Center.

3. How are the results going to be used?

The results will be used in reports that are published by the University of Connecticut Health Center and given to the Connecticut Department of Public Health. Some results may be used in subsequent publications that are submitted to academic journals; however, all information provided will remain confidential. Results of the survey will be aggregated so that at no point will individual data be published or distributed.

4. How was I selected?

This study relied upon random-digit-dialing, a telephone survey strategy that gives all households with a telephone an equal chance of being selected to participate. As an individual with telephone access, you and your household became eligible to be in the sample. The selection of your phone number was completely random.

5. Where can I obtain more information?

We do have a 1-800 number that you can call to ask any additional questions you may have or to speak with someone further about the study. The 1-800 number is: 1-800-xxx-xxxx.

How many individuals in this household are 18 years or older? [IF NONE, DISCONTINUE THE SURVEY].

[IF MORE THAN ONE INDIVIDUAL IS OLDER THAN 18 YEARS OF AGE IN THE HOUSEHOLD, ASK THE FOLLOWING QUESTION]:

### Of the individuals who are 18 years or older, may we continue the survey with the person who had the most recent birthday?

[IF THAT PERSON IS UNAVAILABLE, ATTEMPT TO RESCHEDULE THE SURVEY. IF THE PERSON WITH THE MOST RECENT BIRTHDAY IS EXPECTED TO BE UNAVAILABLE FOR A LONG PERIOD OF TIME (LONGER THAN ONE MONTH), ATTEMPT TO COMPLETE THE SURVEY WITH THE INDIVIDUAL WITH THE NEXT MOST RECENT BIRTHDAY. IF THE PERSON WITH MOST RECENT BIRTHDAY IS EITHER THE CURRENT SPEAKER OR IS WILLING TO COME TO THE PHONE, CONTINUE WITH THE FOLLOWING QUESTION].

#### Are you willing to participate in this survey?

[IF RESPONDENT CHOOSES NOT TO PARTICIPATE, END THE SURVEY HERE]. Thank you very much for your time.

# [IF RESPONDENT AGREES TO PARTICIPATE IN THE SURVEY, CONTINUE WITH THE FOLLOWING SECTIONS.]

#### ----Pre-Survey Questions----

[EACH QUESTION SHOULD BE READ IN ITS ENTIRETY TO THE PARTICIPANT AND THE RESPONSE SHOULD BE RECORDED ACCORDING TO THE RESPONDENTS ANSWER.]

**Qpre-a.** What are the number of landlines which ring in your household and you might pick up? \_\_\_\_\_

**Qpre-b.** What are the number of cell phones used by the household?\_\_\_\_\_

**Qpre-c.** Is this a landline or a cell phone number? \_\_\_\_\_

[IF RESPONDENT ANSWERS CELL PHONE, PLEASE CONTINUE WITH THE FOLLOWING QUESTIONS. IF RESPONDENT ANSWERS THAT IT IS A LANDLINE, CONTINUE WITH QUESTION 1 OF THE SURVEY].

**Qpre-D.** Would you like to continue the survey on a cell phone or would you prefer to continue the call at a later date using a landline ? \_\_\_\_\_

[IF RESPONDENT WOULD NOT LIKE TO COMPLETE THE SURVEY USING A CELL PHONE, ATTEMPT TO RESCHEDULE THE CALL AT A LATER TIME OR USING A DIFFERENT NUMBER. IF RESPONDENT PREFERS TO USE THE CELL PHONE, PROCEED TO QUESTION 1].

#### ----BEGIN SURVEY----

Q1. What is the ID Number?

#### \_\_\_\_\_ [ENTER ID NUMBER].

Q1a. Currently, if you regularly visit a primary care physician, how satisfied are you with the care you receive: very satisfied, mostly satisfied, neither satisfied nor unsatisfied, slightly satisfied, not at all satisfied?

-----

- 1. Very satisfied
- 2. Mostly satisfied
- 3. Neither satisfied nor unsatisfied
- 4. Slightly satisfied
- 5. Not at all satisfied
- 6. Do not regularly visit (N/A)

**Q2.** Approximately how many doctors, including any individual with a medical degree, do you visit in one calendar year?

\_\_\_\_\_

Q3. Have you heard a lot, some, or not at all about each of these new technologies in health care:

Q3a. Electronic health information exchange, where health information is shared electronically across organizations (a lot, some, not at all, or unsure)?

-----

- 1. A lot
- 2. Some
- 3. Not at all
- 4. Unsure

Q3b. Electronic medical records, where physicians store patient health information (a lot, some, not at all, or unsure)?

-----

- 1. A lot
- 2. Some
- 3. Not at all
- 4. Unsure

**Q3c.** Web sites or personal health records where people can get, keep, and update health information (a lot, some, not at all, or unsure)?

-----

- 1. A lot
- 2. Some
- 3. Not at all
- 4. Unsure

Q3d. The Connecticut Health Information Technology and Exchange (a lot, some, not at all, or unsure)?

-----

- 1. A lot
- 2. Some
- 3. Not at all
- 4. Unsure

**Q4.** Some health care institutions invite individuals to join services that provide free online electronic personal health record access. Through such a service, you could view and update your health information on a secure web site. How interested would you be in using this type of website: very interested, somewhat interested, not very interested, or not at all interested?

\_\_\_\_\_

- 1. Very interested
- 2. Somewhat interested
- 3. Not very interested
- 4. Not at all interested

[IF RESPONDENT SELECTS NOT VERY INTERESTED OR NOT AT ALL INTERESTED, CONTINUE TO QUESTION 4A. IF RESPONDENT SELECTS VERY INTERESTED OR SOMEWHAT INTERESTED, CONTINUE TO QUESTION 5.]

Q4a. What is the main reason you are uninterested in using a personal health record?[CHECK ALL ANSWERS AS THEY APPLY TO RESPONDENT OPINIONS].

- 1. Concerned about privacy
- 2. Unfamiliar with technology
- 3. No internet access
- 4. Don't feel it's necessary
- 5. Too much responsibility
- 6. Might cost too much
- 7. Don't know
- 8. Other [SEE 4B]

Q4D. [IF RESPONDENT PROVIDES RESPONSES NOT SIMILAR TO ABOVE, PLEASE DESCRIBE THEM HERE]:

**Q4c.** Of the answers you provided, which do you feel is most important? [THIS QUESTION SHOULD ONLY BE ASKED IF RESPONDENT PROVIDED MORE THAN ONE ANSWER TO QUESTION 4A].

Q5. If your doctor had an EHR, or an electronic health record system, your information might be shared with health insurance plans, researchers and other companies. This information would be about your health but would not contain private information like your name or date of birth. How interested would you be in allowing your health information to be shared: very interested, somewhat interested, not very interested, or not at all interested?

-----

1. Very interested

- 2. Somewhat interested
- 3. Not very interested
- 4. Not at all interested

[IF RESPONDENT SELECTS NOT VERY INTERESTED OR NOT AT ALL INTERESTED, CONTINUE TO QUESTION 5A. IF RESPONDENT SELECTS VERY INTERESTED OR SOMEWHAT INTERESTED, CONTINUE TO QUESTION 6.

# Q5a. What is the main reason you are uninterested in sharing data in an electronic medical record? [CHECK ALL ANSWERS AS THEY APPLY TO RESPONDENT OPINIONS].

- 1. Concerned about privacy
- 2. Unfamiliar with technology
- 3. Don't feel it's necessary
- 4. Too much responsibility
- 5. Might cost too much
- 6. Don't know
- 7. Other [SEE 5B]

**Q5D.** [IF RESPONDENT PROVIDES RESPONSES NOT SIMILAR TO ABOVE, PLEASE DESCRIBE THEM HERE; OTHERWISE, LEAVE BLANK]:

**Q5c.** Of the answers you provided, which do you feel is most important? [THIS QUESTION SHOULD ONLY BE ASKED IF RESPONDENT PROVIDED MORE THAN ONE ANSWER TO QUESTION 5A; OTHERWISE, LEAVE BLANK].

**Q6.** Would you ever purposely withhold information from your doctor: yes, no, or not sure?

- 1. Yes
- 2. No
- 3. Not sure
- 4. No answer given

Q7. If your doctor had an EHR that would allow them to share your health information (but not your name, date of birth, address, or Social Security number), would there be anything that you would not tell your doctor: yes, no, or not sure?

-----

- 1. Yes
- 2. No
- 3. Not sure
- 4. No answer given

[IF RESPONDENT SELECTS YES, CONTINUE TO QUESTION 7A. IF RESPONDENT SELECTS NO OR NOT SURE, CONTINUE TO QUESTION 8.]

**Q7a.** Why would you not tell your doctor information if you knew it would be shared? [CHECK ALL ANSWERS AS THEY APPLY TO RESPONDENT OPINIONS].

\_\_\_\_\_

- 1. Privacy reasons
- 2. Emotional reasons
- 3. Don't know
- 4. Other reason [SEE 7B]

Q7b. [IF RESPONDENT PROVIDES RESPONSES NOT SIMILAR TO ABOVE, PLEASE DESCRIBE THEM HERE; OTHERWISE, LEAVE BLANK]:

**Q8.** Imagine a nationwide health information exchange that both doctors and patients can access. Information in the network can be controlled, and in an emergency, a patient's information could only be seen by an authorized family member or representative. Would you strongly oppose, oppose, favor, or strongly favor the creation of this type of network?

\_\_\_\_\_

- 1. Strongly oppose
- 2. Oppose
- 3. Favor
- 4. Strongly favor

**Q9.** Which of the following do you consider to be the <u>main</u> barrier to achieving a nationwide health information exchange: privacy concerns, ensuring compatibility of multiple networks, cost, liability, limited public support, none of the above, or don't know?

- 1. Privacy concerns
- 2. Compatibility of multiple networks
- 3. Cost
- 4. Liability
- 5. Limited public support
- 6. None of the above
- 7. Don't know

Q10. Within a health information exchange, there are two ways that doctors could obtain your consent to participate. One way is for you to have to tell the doctor that you would allow your information to be shared before any of your information would enter the network – this is called opt-in. The other way would be that your information would enter the network unless you asked that it not be exchanged electronically – this is called optout. Which of these two methods would you prefer to use: opt-in, opt-out, or don't know?

-----

- 1. Opt-in
- 2. Opt-out
- 3. Don't know

Q11. On a scale from 1 to 7, with 1 being the least and 7 being the greatest, please rate your level of agreement with the following:

11a. Health IT could improve quality of care?
11b. Health IT could improve doctor-patient interaction?
11c. Health IT could lead to a reduction in medical errors?
11d. Health IT could reduce the amount of unnecessary tests?

1. Improve quality of care	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 Strongly Disagree $\checkmark$ Strongly Agree
2. Improve doctor-patient interaction	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 Strongly Disagree $\checkmark$ Strongly Agree
3. Avoid medical errors	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 Strongly Disagree $\checkmark$ Strongly Agree
4. Reduce repeated tests and procedures	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 Strongly Disagree

Q12. If you were offered the opportunity to sign up for a PHR, what is the primary factor that would most encourage you to join? [CHECK ALL ANSWERS AS THEY APPLY TO RESPONDENT OPINIONS].

- 1. Trust in organization or physician
- 2. Safeguards (privacy policies)
- 3. Popularity with friends and family
- 4. Don't know
- 5. Other [SEE 12A]

Q12a. [IF RESPONDENT PROVIDES RESPONSES NOT SIMILAR TO ABOVE, PLEASE DESCRIBE THEM HERE; OTHERWISE, LEAVE BLANK]:

Q13. Does your doctor currently have an electronic medical record: yes, no, or not sure?

- 1. Yes
- 2. No
- 3. Not sure

Q14. Have you ever been diagnosed with any type of chronic health condition (such as asthma or diabetes): yes, no, or unsure?

-----

- 1. Yes
- 2. No
- 3. Unsure

Q15. Have you ever looked for information about health or medical topics: yes, no, don't know?

- 1. Yes
  - 2. No
  - 3. Don't know

[IF RESPONDENT SELECTS YES, CONTINUE TO QUESTION 15A. IF RESPONDENT SELECTS NO OR DON'T KNOW, CONTINUE TO QUESTION 16.]

Q15a. Think back to the most recent time you looked for this information. Did you look for this health information from: your physician, another doctor, the internet, a magazine, a book, a journal, or another source?

- 1. Physician
- 2. Another doctor
- 3. The internet
- 4. Magazine

- 5. Book
- 6. Journal
- 7. Other [SEE 15B]

Q15b. [IF RESPONDENT PROVIDES RESPONSES NOT SIMILAR TO ABOVE, PLEASE DESCRIBE THEM HERE; OTHERWISE, LEAVE BLANK]:

Q16. For health-related concerns, how many times over the past 30 days would you say that you used the Internet to get health information?

-----

Q17. How many times in the past 7 days did you access banking information online?

Q18. Think back to the last time you received printed information from your doctor's office. This information could be a brochure, instructions, or a pamphlet. How much of it did you read: a lot, some, none, don't know?

-----

- 1. A lot
- 2. Some
- 3. None
- 4. Don't remember; don't know

Q19. Was any of the information in the material difficult to understand: yes, no, not sure?

-----

- 1. Yes
- 2. No
- 3. Not sure

Q20. Were any of the words in the material unfamiliar to you: yes, no, not sure?

- \_\_\_\_\_
- 1. Yes
- 2. No
- 3. Not sure

[IF RESPONDENT SELECTS YES, CONTINUE TO QUESTION 20A. IF RESPONDENT SELECTS NO OR DON'T KNOW, CONTINUE TO QUESTION 21.]

**Q20a.** You answered that you had trouble with some of the words in the material. Did you ask someone such as a doctor, nurse, or family member for help understanding the material: yes, no, not sure?

- 1. Yes
- 2. No
- 3. Not sure

Q21. Think back to the last time you visited your doctor. During your appointment, did your doctor use any medical words that you did not understand: yes, no, don't know?

\_\_\_\_\_

- 1. Yes
- 2. No
- 3. Don't know

[IF RESPONDENT SELECTS YES, CONTINUE TO QUESTION 21A. IF RESPONDENT SELECTS NO OR DON'T KNOW, CONTINUE TO QUESTION 22.]

Q21a. Did the doctor explain those words to make them easier to understand: yes, no, not sure?

-----

- 1. Yes
- 2. No
- 3. Not sure

**Q22.** What is your zip code?

**Q23.** What is your gender?

- 1. Male
- 2. Female
- 3. Other

**Q24.** What was your age at your most recent birthday?

\_\_\_\_\_

**Q25.** What is your total annual household income?

**Q26.** What is the highest level of education you have completed: less than high school, some high school, high school diploma, some college, college degree, or graduate school?

\_\_\_\_\_

- 1. Less than high school
- 2. Some high school
- 3. High school diploma
- 4. Some college
- 5. College degree
- 6. Graduate school

**Q27.** What is your ethnicity? Hispanic or Latino or not Hispanic or Latino?

- \_\_\_\_\_
- 1. Hispanic or Latino
- 2. Not Hispanic or Latino

**Q28.** Please select one of the following racial categories to describe yourself: American Indian or Alaska Native, Black or African American, Asian, Native Hawaiian or other **Pacific Islander, White, or more than one of these categories?** [CHECK ALL THAT APPLY].

-----

- 1. American Indian or Alaska Native
- 2. Black or African American
- 3. Asian
- 4. Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander
- 5. White

**Q29.** Would you say your health in general is excellent, very good, good, fair, poor, or don't know?

-----

- 1. Excellent
- 2. Very good
- 3. Good
- 4. Fair
- 5. Poor
- 6. Don't know

**Q30.** During the past twelve months, about how many times did you see or talk to a medical doctor or assistant?

[THIS IS AN OPEN-ENDED QUESTION.]

Q31. We will be doing a follow-up to this survey in the following year. May we call you to follow-up with you at that time?

- -----
- 1. Yes
- 2. No

[IF NO, REMOVE TELEPHONE NUMBER FROM MASTER LIST]

That completes our survey. Thank you very much for your time. If you have any questions or concerns, please call the following toll-free number: 1-800-xxx-xxxx. [DISCONNECT THE CALL. THE FOLLOWING QUESTION SHOULD BE ANSWERED ONCE THE CALL HAS BEEN COMPLETED].

Q32. Please describe any thoughts or opinions regarding the survey or the respondent:

# **Appendix B**

#### **Procurement of consumer calling lists**

The initial list of randomized Connecticut residential phone numbers was procured on August 9, 2011 from Marketing Systems Group (MSG), a company based in Horsham, Pennsylvania. UCHC ordered a batch of 6,000 phone numbers; MSG's screening processes discarded 3,156 numbers from this list as being invalid, non-residential numbers; this yielded a final list of 2,844 unduplicated telephone numbers. Calls to these numbers revealed that 140 (4.9%) were non-residential numbers (i.e. business numbers) and that 452 (15.9%) were out-of-service. MSG claimed that this was a traditional attrition rate for randomized residential calling lists following their initial screening process.

On January 6, 2012 UCHC ordered a second batch of residential phone numbers from MSG. MSG's initial screening for invalid numbers reduced this batch to 2,784 unduplicated phone numbers. Calls by UCHC survey staff determined that 159 (5.7%) of these numbers were non-residential numbers and that 474 (17.0%) were out-of-service.

On November 29, 2012, UCHC procured from MSG a final batch of 12,000 residential phone numbers. MSG's initial screening resulted in a final list of 6,128 unduplicated phone numbers. Calls to 3,157 of these numbers indicated that 160 (5.1%) were non-residential numbers and that 471 (14.9%) were out-of-service.

The three lists procured from MSG resulted in a total universe of 11,756 unduplicated numbers. No number from any of the three MSG batches duplicated a number in any other batch. 8,785 (74.7%) of the 11,756 numbers were called during the course of the survey.

#### **Consumer calling protocol**

The UCHC survey team designed a consumer calling protocol that accounted for various scenarios that could occur when an interviewer called a number. This protocol prescribed the following procedures for each potential outcome of a call:

- 1) If a call had one of the following results, the interviewer would try the number again after at least two hours had elapsed:
  - a) The interviewer got a busy signal.
  - b) The call rolled to a voice mail system that didn't allow the interviewer to leave a message.
  - c) No one answered the phone after ten rings.

If ten calls to the number yielded one of these results, then the number was classified as having exceeded its maximum number of contact attempts.

- 2) If a call had one of the following results, the interviewer would try the number again after at least two days had elapsed:
  - a) The number represented a fax or modem line.
  - b) The call rolled to a voice mail that allowed the caller to leave a message.

If five calls to this number yielded one of these results, then the number was classified as having exceeded its maximum number of contact attempts.

- 3) If the number was out-of-service, then the interviewer would try to call it again two weeks later. If it was still out-of-service, then the interviewer would try it one last time four weeks after the initial call. If the number was still out-of-service, then no further attempts were made to call it.
- 4) If the number represented a non-residential number or no one in the household spoke English, then it was immediately classified as an ineligible number and was not called again.

If the caller received a response when dialing a number, then the caller asked whether there were any individuals in the household aged 18 or older. If so, then protocol dictated that the caller ask to conduct the survey with the adult in the household having the most recent birthday. This request was intended to randomize the sample of individuals who actually took the survey. In practice, this portion of the protocol ceased to be followed after turnover of the UCHC survey staff during 2012. This portion of the protocol was re-initiated in November 2013, toward the end of survey calling activities.

Following is the flowchart given to the UCHC survey staff to guide their calling. This flowchart contains directions on how to handle each possible outcome for telephone calls.



#### **Disposition of consumer phone numbers**

The three telephone number lists procured from Marketing Systems Group (MSG) contained a total of 11,756 unduplicated telephone numbers. No numbers appeared in more than one of the three MSG batches purchased by UCHC.

Of the 11,756 unduplicated phone numbers, 8,785 (74.7%) were called by UCHC survey staff. Of these, 459 (5.2%) were non-residential numbers and 1,397 (15.9%) were out-of-service. Excluding these numbers left 6,929 valid residential numbers that survey staff called. Calls to these numbers yielded 599 complete surveys and 30 partial surveys that were retained in the final analytic data set.

Of the 6,929 residential numbers called by survey staff, respondents to 2,782 calls (40.2%) refused to take the survey. In 3,117 cases (45.0%) the caller exceeded the maximum number of contact attempts allowed by the protocol without getting any response. 2,971 (25.3%) of the 11,756 unduplicated numbers from the three MSG lists were not called by UCHC survey staff.

Using the formula developed by the American Association for Public Opinion Research,<sup>55</sup> the overall response rate was 6.4%. The formula is (I+P)/(I+P) + (R+NC+O) + (UH+UO), where I = completed interviews, P = partial interviews, R = refusals or breakoffs, NC = non-contact numbers, UH = unknown households, and UO = unknown other. In our survey: (599+30) / ((599+30)+(2782+3117)+(3372)).

#### **Data cleaning**

UCHC survey staff entered a total of 683 complete and partial consumer survey records into REDCap. Of these, two (0.3%) were duplicate records created by a REDCap bug when survey staff saved completed surveys. Ten (14.6%) were excluded due to no questions being answered. In 20 cases (2.9%) the respondent indicated willingness to take the survey but answered no survey questions; these records were excluded as well. In 21 cases (3.1%) it was judged that the respondent had answered an inadequate number of questions for the survey to be analyzed usefully.

In one case (0.1%) the caller reached the end of the survey before the respondent indicated that he was only 17 years old. This survey was discarded from the analytic data set.

# **Appendix C**

#### Logistic regression analyses

In the following tables, variables in bold text are significantly associated with the outcome of interest at the p < .05 level.

Table C 1. Characteristics associated with any online experience ("yes" vs. "no")						
N = 551	Odds Ratio	95% CI				
Demographic characteristics						
Female vs. male	1.01	0.61-1.64				
Education						
College vs. high school or less	3.42	2.02-5.80				
Graduate school vs. high school or less	4.61	2.36-9.99				
Health and health care						
Good or excellent health vs. fair or poor	1.73	0.92-3.24				
Chronic health condition vs. no or unsure	0.80	0.49-1.30				
Health literacy (trouble understanding words vs. no or unsure)	1.40	0.80-2.43				
Doctor has an electronic medical record system	1.72	1.08-2.75				

### Table C 2. Characteristics associated with familiarity with health information exchange ("a lot or some" vs. "not at all or unsure")

lot of some vor not at an of ansate (		
N = 551	Odds Ratio	95% CI
Demographic characteristics		
Female vs. male	0.77	0.51-1.18
Education		
College vs. high school or less	2.11	1.29-3.45
Graduate school vs. high school or less	5.26	2.87-9.64
Online experience		
Yes vs. no	2.50	1.54-4.06
Health and health care		
Good or excellent health vs. fair or poor	0.84	0.46-1.54
Chronic health condition vs. no or unsure	0.94	0.62-1.42
Health literacy (trouble understanding words vs. no or unsure)	0.81	0.52-1.27
Doctor has an electronic medical record system	2.31	1.57-3.40

some vs. not at an or unsure )		
N = 551	Odds Ratio	95% CI
Demographic characteristics		
Female vs. male	1.83	1.08-3.10
Education		
College vs. high school or less	2.54	1.41-4.59
Graduate school vs. high school or less	4.81	2.13-10.84
Online experience		
Yes vs. no	3.39	1.93-5.95
Health and health care		
Good or excellent health vs. fair or poor	1.46	0.71-3.01
Chronic health condition vs. no or unsure	0.96	0.56-1.69
Health literacy (trouble understanding words vs. no or unsure)	0.96	0.53-1.73
Doctor has an electronic medical record system	3.88	2.19-6.86

Table C 3. Characteristics associated with familiarity with electronic health records ("a lot or some" vs. "not at all or unsure")

### Table C 4. Characteristics associated with familiarity with electronic personal health records ("a lot or some" vs. "not at all or unsure")

N = 550	Odds Ratio	95% CI
Demographic characteristics		
Female vs. male	1.14	0.78-1.66
Education		
College vs. high school or less	1.05	0.65-1.69
Graduate school vs. high school or less	1.63	0.95-2.80
Online experience		
Yes vs. no	2.45	1.51-3.98
Health and health care		
Good or excellent health vs. fair or poor	1.06	0.61-1.83
Chronic health condition vs. no or unsure	1.29	0.89-1.87
Health literacy (trouble understanding words vs. no or unsure)	0.73	0.48-1.10
Doctor has an electronic medical record system	1.30	0.92-1.84

#### Table C 5. Characteristics associated with familiarity with the Connecticut Health Information Exchange ("a lot or some" vs. "not at all or unsure")

N = 551	Odds Ratio	95% CI
Demographic characteristics		
Female vs. male	0.87	0.51-1.44
Education		
College vs. high school or less	2.85	1.16-7.01
Graduate school vs. high school or less	3.02	1.17-7.77
Online experience		
Yes vs. no	2.08	0.90-4.77
Health and health care		
Good or excellent health vs. fair or poor	1.42	0.64-3.16
Chronic health condition vs. no or unsure	1.79	1.09-2.94
Health literacy (trouble understanding words vs. no or unsure)	1.10	0.62-1.93
Doctor has an electronic medical record system	1.68	1.03-2.76

N = 518	Odds Ratio	95% CI
Demographic characteristics		
Female vs. male	0.82	0.51-1.30
Education		
College vs. high school or less	0.81	0.44-1.47
Graduate school vs. high school or less	0.60	0.31-1.16
Online experience		
Yes vs. no	1.95	1.14-3.31
Health and health care		
Good or excellent health vs. fair or poor	1.13	0.58-2.23
Chronic health condition vs. no or unsure	1.80	1.11 <b>-2.</b> 91
Health literacy (trouble understanding words vs. no or unsure)	1.06	0.63-1.76
Doctor has an electronic medical record system	1.05	0.69-1.61

Table C 6. Factors associated with support for a national health information exchange system ("strongly favor or favor" vs. "oppose or strongly oppose")

### Table C 7. Factors associated with indicating privacy concerns are the primary barrier to achieving a national HIE ("privacy" vs. all other barriers)

N = 549	Odds Ratio	95% CI
Demographic characteristics		
Female vs. male	0.95	0.65-1.39
Education		
College vs. high school or less	0.94	0.58-1.52
Graduate school vs. high school or less	1.06	0.62-1.82
Online experience		
Yes vs. no	2.24	1.40-3.57
Health and health care		
Good or excellent health vs. fair or poor	1.42	0.83-2.45
Chronic health condition vs. no or unsure	0.62	0.43-0.90
Health literacy (trouble understanding words vs. no or unsure)	0.93	0.56-1.13
Doctor has an electronic medical record system	0.79	0.62-1.40

#### Table C 8. Factors associated with HIE consent model ("opt-in" vs. "opt-out or unsure")

	I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	- /
N = 549	Odds Ratio	95% CI
Demographic characteristics		
Female vs. male	0.56	0.37-0.86
Education		
College vs. high school or less	1.36	0.84-2.22
Graduate school vs. high school or less	2.46	1.38-4.39
Online experience		
Yes vs. no	2.70	1.68-4.34
Health and health care		
Good or excellent health vs. fair or poor	0.86	0.48-1.56
Chronic health condition vs. no or unsure	1.31	0.87-1.97
Health literacy (trouble understanding words vs. no or unsure)	0.88	0.56-1.36
Doctor has an electronic medical record system	1.10	0.75-1.60

improve the quality of meancar care ("agree" vo. meanar of abagic		
N = 548	Odds Ratio	95% CI
Demographic characteristics		
Female vs. male	0.54	0.34-0.87
Education		
College vs. high school or less	1.17	0.69-2.01
Graduate school vs. high school or less	1.77	0.93-3.35
Online experience		
Yes vs. no	1.34	0.79-2.27
Health and health care		
Good or excellent health vs. fair or poor	1.40	0.74-2.64
Chronic health condition vs. no or unsure	2.02	1.26-3.22
Health literacy (trouble understanding words vs. no or unsure)	1.59	0.95-2.66
Doctor has an electronic medical record system	1.44	0.95-2.17

Table C 9. Factors associated with agreement that health information technology will improve the quality of medical care ("agree" vs. "neutral or disagree")

### Table C 10. Factors associated with agreement that health information technology will improve doctor-nationt interactions ("agree" vs. "neutral or disagree")

Improve doctor-patient interactions ( agree vs. neutral of disagree	)	
N = 548	Odds Ratio	95% CI
Demographic characteristics		
Female vs. male	0.72	0.47-1.09
Education		
College vs. high school or less	0.64	0.37-1.08
Graduate school vs. high school or less	0.88	0.48 - 1.60
Online experience		
Yes vs. no	1.41	0.86-2.31
Health and health care		
Good or excellent health vs. fair or poor	1.01	0.56-1.83
Chronic health condition vs. no or unsure	1.23	0.82-1.85
Health literacy (trouble understanding words vs. no or unsure)	1.11	0.71-1.74
Doctor has an electronic medical record system	1.45	1.00-2.12

Table C 11. Factors associated with agreement that health information technology will reduce unnecessary tests or procedures ("agree" vs. "neutral or disagree")

N = 545	Odds Ratio	95% CI
Demographic characteristics		
Female vs. male	0.99	0.65-1.50
Education		
College vs. high school or less	0.78	0.46-1.33
Graduate school vs. high school or less	1.15	0.62-2.12
Online experience		
Yes vs. no	1.15	0.68-1.93
Health and health care		
Good or excellent health vs. fair or poor	1.01	0.55-1.83
Chronic health condition vs. no or unsure	1.08	0.71-1.64
Health literacy (trouble understanding words vs. no or unsure)	0.97	0.80-1.73
Doctor has an electronic medical record system	1.17	0.78-1.64

N = 544	Odds Ratio	95% CI
Demographic characteristics		
Female vs. male	0.69	0.46-1.03
Education		
College vs. high school or less	0.70	0.42-1.17
Graduate school vs. high school or less	1.17	0.65-2.10
Online experience		
Yes vs. no	1.38	0.85-2.25
Health and health care		
Good or excellent health vs. fair or poor	1.54	0.89-2.66
Chronic health condition vs. no or unsure	0.91	0.62-1.36
Health literacy (trouble understanding words vs. no or unsure)	1.23	0.79-1.93
Doctor has an electronic medical record system	1.13	0.78-1.64

Table C 12. Factors associated with agreement that health information technology will reduce medical errors ("agree" vs. "neutral or disagree")

### Table C 13. Factors associated with interest in having a personal health record ("very or somewhat interested" vs. "not very or not at all interested")

somewhat interested vs. not very of not at an interested )		
N = 550	Odds Ratio	95% CI
Demographic characteristics		
Female vs. male	1.07	0.73-1.57
Education		
College vs. high school or less	0.93	0.57-1.53
Graduate school vs. high school or less	1.33	0.76-2.31
Online experience		
Yes vs. no	4.57	2.73-7.65
Health and health care		
Good or excellent health vs. fair or poor	1.63	0.93-2.85
Chronic health condition vs. no or unsure	1.14	0.78-1.68
Health literacy (trouble understanding words vs. no or unsure)	1.19	0.78-1.81
Doctor has an electronic medical record system	1.06	0.74-1.51

Table C 14. Factors associated with interest in allowing de-identified information from electronic health record to be shared ("very or somewhat interested" vs. "not very or not at all interested")

N = 543	Odds Ratio	95% CI
Demographic characteristics		
Female vs. male	0.93	0.64-1.37
Education		
College vs. high school or less	0.83	0.51-1.34
Graduate school vs. high school or less	1.04	0.60-1.81
Online experience		
Yes vs. no	2.27	1.41-3.64
Health and health care		
Good or excellent health vs. fair or poor	1.36	0.79-2.36
Chronic health condition vs. no or unsure	1.47	1.00-2.17
Health literacy (trouble understanding words vs. no or unsure)	1.07	0.70-1.62
Doctor has an electronic medical record system	1.01	0.71-1.44